Germany physical distancing policies and epidemiology from January 2020 - August 2022: A case report

Policy Frameworks and Epidemiology of COVID-19 Working Group

April 2023









- Report titleGermany physical distancing policies and epidemiology from January
2020 August 2022: A case report
- Publication date April 2023

Authors

Xi, Cheng En, Bachelor of Health Sciences (Honours) student, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario.

Alvarez, Elizabeth, MD MPH PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact (HEI), McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario.

Funding

The authors acknowledge the support of the National Science Foundation-funded Social Science Extreme Events Research (SSEER) Network and the CONVERGE facility at the Natural Hazards Center at the University of Colorado Boulder (NSF Award # 1841338).

Conflicts of Interest

No conflicts of interest were reported.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank CONVERGE for providing a platform to build this team and the Working Group members for their input throughout the project. The cover image and footer flag image were from PNGHut.com. Sana Mohammad created Table 4 in the report.

Contact information

For more information on this project, or if you have suggestions or want to join the working group, please contact Dr. Elizabeth Alvarez at <u>alvare@mcmaster.ca</u> or call 905-525-9140 x 22248.

To cite this report:

Xi C, Alvarez E. (2023). Germany physical distancing policies and epidemiology from January 2020 – August 2022: A case report. Policy Frameworks and Epidemiology of COVID-19 Working Group. <u>https://covid19-policies.healthsci.mcmaster.ca/research/publications/</u>



Table of contents

I.	Introduction and project description	5
П.	Methods	9
III.	Findings	10
	A. Setting characteristics	
	1. Geographic, environmental, social & economic contextual factors	10
	2. Population health characteristics	12
	3. Governance and health systems	13
	4. Pandemic experience and preparedness	15
	B. Policies and epidemiology	
	1. Cases, vaccinations, and social distancing policies	16
	2. Description of events in Germany	18
	3. Vaccination policies	30
	4. Relief programs and other supporting policies	33
	5. Disproportionately affected populations	34
	6. Successes and Challenges in Germany's pandemic response	35
	7. Comparison with other country responses	37
IV.	Discussion of main findings, limitations, and next steps	38
V.	Conclusions	38
VI.	References	39



Tables and figures

Table 1. COVID-19 relevant contextual factors for Germany	11	
Table 2. Age and health characteristics for Germany	12	
Table 3. Political and health system indicators for Germany	14	
Table 4. Comparative national-level responses to COVID-19 by country as of August 2020	37	
Figure 1. Heat map of total COVID-19 cases in Germany as of August 31, 2022	10	
Figure 2. Global Health Security Index Epidemic Preparedness Rank Category		
Figure 3. Proportional mortality from non-communicable diseases		
(NCDs) – Germany, 2016	12	
Figure 4. Number of daily reported COVID-19 cases and deaths in Germany with cumulative		
vaccination rates and select policies from January 2020 to August 31, 2022	17	
Links to supplementary materials		
Study proposal		
Informed consent		
Interview guide		

COVID-19 Country characteristics database



I. Introduction and project description

A new disease that spread around the world

On December 31, 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) was notified of a cluster of individuals with pneumonia of unknown cause in Wuhan, China. (1) On January 12, 2020, China shared the genetic sequence of the novel coronavirus with other countries to help develop diagnostic tests. (1) Thailand reported the first known case of the novel coronavirus outside of China on January 13, 2020. WHO declared the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) outbreak a Public Health Emergency of International Concern on January 30, 2020 with 7,711 confirmed cases, 12,167 suspected cases, and 170 deaths in China and 83 cases in 18 countries outside of China. (1,2) The disease was later named COVID-19 for coronavirus disease 2019 and the virus referred to as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). (1) WHO declared COVID-19 a pandemic on March 11, 2020. (1)



Physical distancing policies and knowledge gaps

As an emerging infectious disease, there were originally no effective vaccines or preventive treatments for SARS-CoV-2. Therefore, governments have had to rely on the use of public policies to combat the spread of the virus. (1–4) Creating policies has been difficult due to the large amount of information and ongoing uncertainty around the characteristics of the virus and who it affects. (4) One of the most commonly used policies to mitigate (slow) the spread of the virus that causes COVID-19 centres on physical or social distancing, which relies on separating people to reduce the transmission of the virus. (5) However, it is still unclear when is the best time to institute such policies and what happens when distancing policies are eased in which contexts. There are many aspects of distancing, such as recommendations for maintaining a physical distance in public, banning group gatherings, or complete lockdowns, that complicate their assessment. (5) There are also many factors that have been attributed to people acquiring or having a worse outcome from COVID-19. (6–11) However, there was no harmonized database available with all the policies, epidemiology and contextual information that were needed to perform comparative analyses useful to informing policy making.



About this project

The Policy Frameworks and Epidemiology of COVID-19 Working Group was developed after a "CONVERGE Virtual Forum: COVID-19 Working Groups for Public Health and Social Sciences Research." A group of international researchers convened to explore what physical distancing policies countries implemented and their effects on the epidemiology of COVID-19. The Working Group was further supported through an award from CONVERGE and the Social Science Extreme Events Research (SSEER) Network. CONVERGE is a National Science Foundation-funded initiative headquartered at the Natural Hazards Center at the University of Colorado Boulder.

This project is registered in:



Alvarez, Elizabeth. (2020) "Physical distancing policies and their effect on the epidemiology of COVID-19: A multi-national comparative study". World Pandemic Research Network. WPRN-457852, 2020-06-09 at 04h05 (GMT): https://wprn.org/item/457852





Boulder

Elizabeth Alvarez, Stephanie E. Hopkins, Ellen Amster, Lisa Schwartz, Katharine Boothe, Mark Loeb, Emma Apatu, Ahmed Belal, Donna Goldstein, Jean Slick, Edris Alam, Neil Abernethy. (2020). Policy Frameworks and Impacts on the Epidemiology of COVID-19. CONVERGE COVID-19 Working Groups for Public Health and Social Sciences Research. Boulder, CO: Natural Hazards Center, University of Colorado Boulder. https://converge.colorado.edu/resources/covid-University of Colorado <u>19/working-groups/issues-impacts-recovery/policy-frameworks-and-</u> impacts-on-the-epidemiology-of-covid-19



In collaboration with:









Anthropology UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO BOULDER

















Working Group Lead

Elizabeth Alvarez, McMaster University Email: <u>alvare@mcmaster.ca</u>

Working Group Members

Neil Abernethy, University of Washington	Yuna lang, BC Cancer Centre		
Edris Alam, Faculty of Resilience, Rabdan	Yannick Lanierre, Royal Roads University		
Academy, Abu Dhabi, UAF and	Tamika Jarvis, McMaster University		
Department of Geography and Environmental	linhee Lee McMaster University		
Studies, University of Chittagong	Mark Loeh McMaster University		
Fllen Amster, McMaster University	Arielle Luchich, Boyal Boads University		
Courtnee Anderson , Royal Roads University	Claire McFadven . University of Colorado Boulder		
Emma Apatu. McMaster University	Kaelyn McGinty. McMaster University		
Ehab Abu-Basha, Jordan University of Science	Arielle Milkman. University of Colorado Boulder		
and Technology	Peter Miller, McMaster University		
Ahmed A. Belal. McMaster University	Nicholas Mitsakakis, University of Toronto		
Alicia Benton. Royal Roads University	Sana Mohammad, McMaster University		
Iwona Bielska. McMaster University	Sarita Panchang, University of South Florida		
Katherine Boothe, McMaster University	Nandana Parakh. McMaster University		
Dorsai Boreshnavard, McMaster University	Sureka Pavalangatharanjah, McMaster		
Katrina Bouzanis, McMaster University	University		
Margie Champion, Royal Roads University	Carla Perrotta. University College Dublin		
Shruthi Dakey, Visvesvaraya National Institute of	Lisa Schwartz, McMaster University		
Technology	Jean Slick, Royal Roads University		
Agnes Dallison, Royal Roads University	Magdalena Stawkowski, University of South		
Jared Dookie, Western University	Carolina		
Alexandra Durocher, Western University	Alice Tan, McMaster University		
Edward Feng, McMaster University	Japleen Thind, McMaster University		
Marie-Carmel Gedeon, Heidelberg University	Rosemary Thuss, Royal Roads University		
Simrat Gill, McMaster University	Matthew Van, California State University Long		
Donna M. Goldstein, University of Colorado	Beach		
Boulder	Marg Verbeek, Royal Roads University		
Janany Gunabalasingam, McMaster University	Simon Wells, Royal Roads University		
Charles Harris, Royal Roads University	Anna Wynfield, University of Colorado Boulder		
Bronwyn Hersen, Western University	Cheng En Xi, McMaster University		
Lyndsey Huynh, McMaster University	Sammah Yahya, McMaster University		
Irene Israel, York University	Michelle Yao, McMaster University		
	Song Yegi, York University		



II. Methods

Research design

A qualitative embedded multiple case study research design was used to compare countries (or subnational jurisdictions, such as provinces, states or territories). The suite of public policies and resulting changes in the epidemiology of COVID-19 are examined within their specific country setting. Our cases start in January 2020. (Please see full <u>study proposal</u>). Research ethics approval was obtained by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HIREB) (Project # 11243).

Data Collection

For each country, the setting, such as health systems, political systems and demographics were described to help with interpretation of findings and potential transferability, or the degree to which findings are applicable to other sites or future research.

Publicly available data were first collected on the jurisdiction following a standardized data collection form. Epidemiological data were drawn from publicly available data. WHO, World Bank, Central Intelligence Agency and other publicly available sources were used for timelines and country characteristics, where possible. Other sources of information included governmental and non-governmental websites, news articles, government reports, and peer-reviewed journals.

Next, key informant interviews were conducted to fill in gaps, verify information found through the documentary searches, and identify further participants and documentary sources of relevant information. (See <u>informed consent</u> and <u>interview guide</u>) Key informant interviews were conducted with policymakers, health workers, researchers and other stakeholders as appropriate to fill in knowledge gaps.

Data Analysis and Presentation

Our <u>COVID-19 policies</u> and epidemiology databases harmonize data on setting characteristics, policies, demographic characteristics and epidemiological risk factors and outcome metrics. These will further be described in single country or jurisdiction case reports. Comparisons will be selected based on both literal and theoretical replication. Countries that have similarities in either policies or epidemiological trends can be considered literal comparisons, whereas countries that differ will be used as theoretical comparisons. These comparisons will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals for publication.



III. Findings

A. Setting characteristics

Geographic, environmental, social, and economic contextual factors

Germany is a country in the WHO European Region. (12) In 2019, Germany had a population of 83,132,799, a land area of 349,360 km², and a population density of 237.31 people per km² (2018). (13–15) It is the most populous country in Europe, with a fairly even population distribution throughout most of the country. The urban areas contain larger and denser populations, particularly in the far western part of the industrial state of North Rhine-Westphalia. (16) As of 2019, 77.38% of Germany's population lived in urban areas. (17)



Figure 1. Heat map of COVID-19 cases in the various federal states of Germany as of August 31, 2022 (18)



Figure 2. Global Health Security Index Epidemic Preparedness Rank Category (19)



Table 1. COVID-19 relevant co	ntextual factors for Germany
-------------------------------	------------------------------

Global Health Security Index, 2019 (Overall Index Score out of 100 and category) (19)	66—More Prepared	
Global Health Security Index, 2019 (Epidemic Preparedness Index Score out of 100 and category) (19)	54.8—More Prepared	
Particulate matter (PM2.5) air pollution, mean annual exposure, 2017 (micrograms per cubic meter) (20)	12.03	
PM2.5 air pollution, population exposed to levels exceeding WHO guideline value, 2017 (% of total) (21)	89.17	
International migrant stock, 2015 (% of population) (22)	14.88	
Trust in national government, 2018 (% of population) (23)	53.57	
Mobile cellular subscriptions, 2019 (per 100 people) (24)	128.36	
Individuals using the internet, 2019 (% of population) (25)	88.13	
Index of economic freedom, 2020 (Score and category) (26)	73.5—Mostly free	
World Bank classification, 2020 (27)	High	
Gini Index, 2016 (28)	31.9	
GDP per capita, PPP, 2020 (Current international \$) (29)	54,844.50	
GNI per capita, PPP, 2020 (Current international \$) (30)	56,370	
Current health expenditure, 2020 (%) (31)	12.82	
Vulnerable employment, total, 2020 (% of total employment) (32)	5.58	
Vulnerable employment, female, 2020 (% of female employment) (32)	4.92	
Vulnerable employment, male, 2020 (% of male employment) (32)	6.16	
Homelessness, 2018 (%) (33)	0.41	
Adult literacy rate, 2018 (%) (34)		
Literacy rate, adult female, 2018 (% of females 15 and above) (35)		
Literacy rate, adult male, 2018 (% of males 15 and above) (36)		
Primary school enrolment, 2017 (% net) (37)	90.14	

GDP - gross domestic product; GNI - gross national income; PPP - purchasing power parity



Population health characteristics

Life expectancy at birth in Germany was reported to be 80.89 years in 2018. (38) For males, life expectancy at birth was 78.60 years, and for females it was 83.30 years in 2018. (39,40) Non-communicable diseases are believed to play a role in who develops severe symptoms of COVID-19. In Germany, the proportional mortality from cardiovascular diseases was 37%, cancers 26%, chronic respiratory diseases 6%, and diabetes 3%. (41) (Figure 3.) The probability of dying between ages 30-70 from cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory disease was 12.1% for all adults, and 15.2% and 8.9% for males and females, respectively. (42)



Figure 3. Proportional mortality from non-communicable diseases (NCDs)-Germany, 2016 (41)

	Male	Female	Total
Population ages 0-14, total, 2019 (% of total population) (43–46)	5,918,374 (7.12)	5,553,586 (6.68)	11,471,901 (13.80)
Population ages 15-64, total, 2019 (% of total population) (47–50)	27,285,496 (32.82)	26,449,654 (31.82)	53,734,979 (64.64)
Population ages 65 and above, total, 2019 (% of total population) (51–54)	7,855,465 (9.45)	10,070,225 (12.11)	17,925,919 (21.56)
Current tobacco use prevalence, total, 2018 (%) (55)	29.9	26	28
Raised blood pressure (Systolic blood pressure ≥140 or Diastolic Blood Pressure ≥90), ages 18+, 2015 (%) (56)	30.7	24.8	27.7
Raised fasting blood glucose (>7.0mmol/L or on medication), ages 18+, 2014 (%) (57)	8.4	6.4	7.4
Prevalence of obesity among adults (Body Mass Index <a>30), 2016 (%) (58)	26.6	24.9	25.7
Prevalence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), 2020 (% of population ages 15-49) (59)			
Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) Immunization coverage estimates, 2020 (%) (60)			
Prevalence of undernourishment, 2018 (% of population) (61)			2.5

Table 2. Age and health characteristics for Germany



Governance and health systems (RKI)

Germany is a democratic federal parliamentary republic, with the Federal President acting as the Head of State and the Federal Chancellor acting as the Head of the Government. (62–64) While the Federal President is the country's highest-ranking official, the role is largely ceremonial, and the Federal Chancellor holds the most political power. (63,64) Federal authority is divided into legislative, executive, and judicial branches. (63) The legislative branch consists of the federal Bundestag and State parliaments of the 16 states. Members of the Bundestag (MBs) are elected by German citizens in each legislative period. (62) The Federal Chancellor is elected via general elections every four years with no term limits, while the Federal President is elected by the Federal Convention, consisting of all MBs and delegates from State Parliaments, and subject to only one term renewal. (64–66)

Germany has a multi-party system, in which the party in power often operates as a coalition government with a number of other smaller partnering parties. (67,68) The Social Democratic Party of Germany (SPD), a centre-left party led by Chancellor Olaf Scholz, has been in power since December 7, 2021. (69,70) SPD operates a coalition with the Greens and the Free Democratic Party (FDP). (68) Previously, the Christian Democratic Union of Germany (CDU), a centre-right political party led by Chancellor Angela Merkel, was in power from 2005 to 2021. (69,71)

Germany has a federalist system, in which health policies fall within the responsibilities of each federal state. (72) Health systems in Germany are highly decentralized, with each administrative level being responsible for the task it can best perform. (73) Germany relies on a mixed financing model for healthcare. (74) Health insurance is mandatory, and ~ 86% of the population is enrolled in non-profit statutory health insurance (SHI), which is administered by a non-governmental insurer called the Sickness Funds. This public insurance is funded by a mix of general wage contributions and supplementary contributions by workers and employers. The Sickness Funds cover preventive services (e.g., vaccinations, cancer screenings), inpatient and outpatient hospital care, physician and mental health services, dental care, optometry, physical therapy, most prescription drugs, and many other services. They offer a range of deductibles and co-payments for various services, but they do not apply to recommended preventive services. In addition to the Sickness Funds, private health insurance is available to individuals earning more than € 60,750 per year, with no government subsidies. Currently, ~ 10.6% of the population have private insurance plans that cover benefits outside of the Sickness Funds. Physicians who contract with the Sickness Funds must not charge above the fee schedule for services within the SHI benefit catalogue, but they may request out-of-pocket fees for health services not covered under public insurance.

Health policy authority in Germany is spread out across multiple agencies. The Federal Ministry of Health is the highest health authority and is responsible for the drafting of legislation and regulations, disease prevention, and rehabilitation and disability. (75) The Ministry also



supervises the Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices (BfArm) and the Federal Centre for Health Education. (76,77) The Conference of Health Ministers of the Federal States is the second-highest health authority in Germany, and it provides technical and policy advice for health policies and coordinates tasks between the federal states, such as health promotion and disease prevention. (78) The Robert Koch Institute (RKI) is Germany's central scientific institution and is responsible for the identification, surveillance, and prevention of infectious diseases, pandemic preparedness, informing and advising politicians and the general public, and providing a scientific basis for health policy decision-making. (79) Public Health consists of state and local public health departments, with only five out of the 16 German states having state-level public health authorities. (78) The core of public health services is the local health authority or public health department of various municipalities. In total, there are ~ 400 offices across Germany. Public health services are mainly funded by public budgets from the States and municipalities, and to a lesser extent, by out-of-pocket fees required by some services.

Fragile States Index score, 2020 (maximum 120, higher value is worse) (80)	23.20
Fragile States Index rank, 2020 (out of 178 countries, higher value is better) (80)	166
Global Freedom score and status, 2020 (81)	94—Free
Internet Freedom score and status, 2020 (82)	80—Free
World press freedom index, 2020, global score (0-100, lower value is better) and rank (out of 180 countries, lower value is better) (83)	10.34—11
Physician density, 2017 (physician/1,000 pop) (84)	4.25
Hospital bed density, 2013 (beds/1,000 pop) (85)	8.3

Table 3. Political and health system indicators for Germany



Pandemic experience and preparedness

Germany's experience with infectious diseases in the past 25 years were centred around HIV/AIDS and respiratory diseases, such as the H1N1 flu pandemic. Germany detected its first case of HIV/AIDS in 1982 and the transmission and prognosis of HIV/AIDS has continued to affect Germans. (86) In 2015, there were 3,200 new HIV infections, with 85,000 acquired cases in total. (87) However, HIV treatment has been available in Germany for over 20 years and less than 500 deaths occur each year. The most significant respiratory disease outbreak in Germany prior to COVID-19 was H1N1, also known as the Swine Flu. Germany reported its first case of H1N1 in April 2009 and as of May 2010, there were 226,158 cases of H1N1 and around 253 deaths. (88–90) Subsequently, the RKI modified its Influenza Pandemic Preparedness Plan by integrating the lessons learned from the H1N1 pandemic. (91) Aside from HIV/AIDS and H1N1, Germany also had minimal experience working with the SARS and MERS outbreaks, with less than 20 cases of either disease in the country. (92,93) Germany also deployed resources to Africa to aid with the 2014 Ebola outbreak and received Ebola patients for treatment. (94,95)

Laboratories in Germany operate in a decentralized system, with labs located in a variety of settings, such as hospitals, private practices, public health authorities, and emergency responders. (96,97) Each lab has the freedom to select a commercially available diagnostic test with relevant approvals or conduct their own testing to assess the validity of a test. Certified labs in Germany operate under the trade group association of ALM (Akkreditierte Labore in der Medizin). (98) As of October 2020, ALM had 109 labs across Germany, which formed a network that worked cooperatively and coordinated with local public health authorities for contact tracing. (96) Contact tracing proceeded without specific directions from the federal government. Despite operating privately and independently, the ALM labs used the tiered guidelines developed by the RKI to determine the priority of testing for individuals. (96) From February to May 2020, ~300 labs in Germany were commissioned to produce COVID-19 tests, and large private employers, such as Deutsche Post and Volkswagen, also opened their own labs in their medical facilities. (96)

While Germany has no national strategic stockpile of personal protective equipment (PPE), Germany is one of the few countries in the European Union (EU) that manufactures PPE domestically. (99) In March 2020, Germany banned the export of PPE, and the EU began to organize a pandemic PPE stockpile to assist member states. (100) Germany also began to centralize PPE procurement and sought to promote domestic PPE production due to COVID-19. (101,102)



B. Policies and epidemiology

Cases, vaccinations, and social distancing policies

Germany's first case of COVID-19 was recorded on January 27, 2020. (103) A national state of emergency was declared on March 28, 2020, and lasted until November 25, 2021. (104) As of August 31, 2022, there were a total of 32,145,157 cases and 147,404 deaths recorded in Germany. (105) COVID-19 vaccines first became available in Germany on December 27, 2020, and by August 31, 2022, 76.1 % of the country's population had been fully vaccinated. (105,106) Figure 4 shows the number of new daily cases and deaths in Germany, cumulative vaccination rates, and dates for selected public health policies implemented from January 2020 to August 31, 2022.





Figure 4. Number of daily reported COVID-19 cases and deaths in Germany with cumulative vaccination rates and select policies from January 2020 to August 31, 2022



Description of events in Germany

Germany had no clearly designated primary spokesperson for COVID-19 policies at the federal level. However, the federal health minister often communicated public health policies and recommendations to the press and the public. (107,108) This role was filled by Jens Spahn from March 2018 to December 2021, and by Karl Lauterbach since December 2021. The Federal Chancellor also played an important role in public health communication. Most notably, as the first wave of distancing policies was introduced, Chancellor Angela Merkle held a televised speech to the nation on March 18, 2020, in which she urged the people to take public health measures seriously. (109) After the election on December 7, 2021, Olaf Scholz took over the role of Federal Chancellor and has also communicated to the press regarding various COVID-19 policies. (69,110) In addition to public officials, Christian Drosten, the head of the Institute of Virology at the Charité Hospital became a notable expert for the government and has communicated health information to the press through interviews. (111)

Shortly after detecting its first case, COVID-19 became a notifiable disease in Germany. (112) This status mandated physicians and laboratories to report suspected and positive cases to local public health authorities, who then began to break the chain of infection via contact tracing. The first outbreak in Germany began in the state of Bavaria, and it was initially controlled with a combination of testing, contact tracing, and quarantine. (112) Initially, Germany employed a containment approach that aimed to keep infections at a minimum using active testing, contact tracing, and quarantine. (113) While this approach was not officially declared, government rhetoric centred towards containing disease spread. (114) Notably, Health Minister Jens Spahn stated that "So far, in Europe and the European Union, detection and containment is working" during a meeting of European health ministers in Brussels on February 13, 2020. (114) However, cases continued to rise in Germany, and by March 10, 2020, COVID-19 had reached all 16 German states. (103) Starting at that point, the rhetoric shifted to focusing on minimizing hospitalization and deaths by keeping infections within the capacity of the healthcare system. (109) From that point on, Germany's COVID-19 approach can be considered as one focused on mitigation. (113)

Wave 1

In March 2020, daily new cases in Germany sharply increased, reaching 1043 new cases on March 15, 2020. (105) In response to rising case counts, Germany began to restrict regular life to control disease spread in March 2020. Starting on March 12, 2020, many businesses encouraged workers to work from home if possible. (115) This encouragement was later echoed by some state governments, such as Bavaria. (116) Bavaria was also the first German state to enter lockdown on March 20, 2020 – two days before the federal lockdown. (117) Educational institutions were similarly affected. All universities in Germany transitioned to an online format on March 15, 2020, and primary and secondary schools in all 16 states were closed by March 19, 2020. (118–120) Likewise, children stopped attending early childhood



education and care (ECEC) centers, such as daycares, by the same date. (120) However, exceptions were made for the children of essential workers and child welfare reasons. (121)

On March 18, 2020, Federal Chancellor Angela Merkel addressed the nation to communicate the seriousness of COVID-19 and the need for strict lockdowns and other distancing policies soon to be implemented. (109) On March 22, 2020, Germany entered its first lockdown, which included many restrictions and public distancing policies. (122) Large events (e.g., sports, concerts) and public gatherings with more than two people were banned. A minimum public distance of 1.5 m was mandated. Non-essential businesses where a 2 m distance between individuals is not possible were also required to close. All restaurants and other businesses serving food were closed for dining, with only delivery and pick-up services allowed. Essential businesses, such as medical services, were allowed to open. All the above restrictions were enforceable by law enforcement agencies. Notably, these policies were officially referred to as "guidelines" by Merkel and individual states had authority over implementation. While all states implemented many of the federal policies, there were differences between jurisdictions. For example, in Saxony, one could only leave home for essential reasons, such as shopping, work, medical visits, etc. (123) Outdoor exercise was only allowed alone or with four other members of the same household. Meanwhile, the state of Bavaria refused to implement the two-person ban due to having implemented its own lockdown, involving its own policies, prior to the federal lockdown. (122) Given that Germany has the second oldest population in the EU, and other EU countries had seen high death rates in nursing homes, many German states enacted restrictions around nursing home visits. (124) The state governments aimed to separate nursing homes from the outside world as much as possible, with many nursing homes being completely closed for outside contact starting April 2, 2020.

In addition to distancing policies, Germany also relied heavily on testing, contact tracing, and quarantine. Various drive-in testing sites were set up in March 2020, with patients staying in their vehicles while tests were conducted. (125–127) A physician referral was needed to register for the test and results would be given to the referring physician and the local health department. (126) Once a positive case was detected, the local public health office was notified, and contact tracers were assigned to call the infected individual and produce a list of contacts since becoming symptomatic. Starting in March 2020, all positive cases and close contacts, defined as a contact within 2 m of an infected person for more than 15 minutes, were put under a 14-day mandatory home quarantine period. (128,129) Breaking this quarantine could have resulted in fines of up to € 25,000 or even five years in prison. (128) Close contacts under quarantine were called daily by contact tracers and underwent COVID-19 testing if necessary. (129) The contact tracing and quarantine cycle was repeated once a contact had tested positive.

To ensure the contact tracing system could be effective, Federal Chancellor Merkel aimed to have one tracer per 4,000 people, and mass recruitments were done to achieve this goal. (129) New contact tracers came from all walks of life, such as soldiers, students, and regular civilians.



The local public health office provided grocery pickup services for individuals under quarantine who needed it. This service ensured that individuals under quarantine did not need to leave to receive essential supplies.

On March 16, 2020, Germany began to enact international travel restrictions. On that day, land borders with France, Austria, Luxembourg, Denmark, and Switzerland were closed for non-commercial traffic. (130,131) Traffic crossings were restricted to goods and work commutes, and while German citizens and residents in those countries could still return home, non-essential travel was discouraged. (131) At the same time, the EU also closed its borders to all non-EU countries. (132) Interestingly, no official airport screenings were implemented until July 27, 2020, when the daily case counts were much lower. (105,133) Between March and July 2020, screening decisions were up to individual airlines, with passengers from certain countries, such as China, South Korea, Japan, Iran, and Italy, being subjected to additional scrutiny via health forms. (134) On April 10, 2020, Germany enacted a mandatory 14-day quarantine for all German citizens, residents, and EU nationals entering the country. (135)

Like many other countries, Germany also suffered a personal protective equipment (PPE) shortage. To address the shortage, on March 4, 2020, Germany banned all exports of PPE and centralized the procurement process. (136) This ban was upheld despite attempted persuasion from the EU. (137) PPE supply problems persisted throughout March 2020, with many procurement directors in German hospitals and clinics attempting to sterilize and re-use masks and other PPE, as well as encountering much higher prices. (101) Despite these challenges, on March 31, 2020, Jena became the first German city to issue a mask mandate, requiring face coverings (e.g., towels, masks, scarfs) during shopping or on public transit. (138)

To mitigate disease spread and reserve healthcare capacity, elective surgeries and dental procedures were suspended in March 2020. (139,140) On March 12, 2020, Health Minister Spahn requested clinics to postpone planned operations and provided bonuses for each ICU bed that was created and maintained. In March 2020, the National Association of Statutory Health Insurance Dentists (KZBV) advised all patients with acute respiratory symptoms not to proceed with non-urgent dental procedures. (141) Routine in-person dental care was suspended, and patients were directed to specific urgent dental care centres. (142,143) By March 31, 2020, 50% of clinic beds had been cleared and were available for COVID-19 patients. (139) On April 28, 2020, planned medical operations resumed, and on August 18, 2020, the KZBV and BZAC (German Dental Association) declared routine dental visits safe to proceed. (139,144) After those dates, nationwide suspension of surgical and dental procedures never occurred again. The number of surgeries increased in 2021 as they worked to clear the backlog of procedures. (145) However, patients who tested positive for COVID-19 still needed to have their procedure evaluated on a case-by-case basis. (146)

As these policies were implemented, daily new case counts continued to rise throughout March and April 2020, reaching a peak of 6174 new cases recorded on April 3, 2020. (105) Deaths



followed a similar trajectory, with the highest number of daily deaths recorded at 315 deaths on April 16, 2020. Beginning in mid-April 2020, new daily cases and deaths began to stabilize and gradually decline.

Given the decline in new daily cases, Chancellor Merkel announced the easing of pandemic restrictions on April 15, 2020. (147) Schools could reopen gradually starting May 4, 2020, with dates differing slightly state-to-state. New safety measures were implemented for school buses and the reopening prioritized students with exams, such as final-year primary and secondary school students. (147,148) Universities could resume in-person labs and exams with proper protective and hygiene measures, with lectures remaining online. (119) Social distancing rules were ordered to remain in place until at least May 3, 2020, and large public gatherings, including religious services, remained banned until at least August 31, 2020. (147) On April 30, 2020, museums, monuments, gardens, and zoos reopened under strict conditions. (149) Beginning in May 2020, certain non-essential businesses were also allowed to reopen. All shops below an area of 800 m² could reopen, and other large businesses, such as bookstores, bike stores, and car dealerships, were also allowed to reopen. (147,150) Restaurants, bars, and hotels could reopen but were limited to two households and mandatory social distancing of 1.5 m. (150) All of the above businesses were also required to follow hygiene standards. It is important to note that the reopening process varied state by state, with some states taking the lead on easing restrictions. (148)

To complement the ease of restrictions, Chancellor Merkel's announcement also included a public face mask recommendation. (147) The hope was that voluntary mask-wearing could help curb infections despite the reopening of businesses. However, this recommendation was short-lived, with all states mandating face masks by April 27, 2020. (151) Masks were defined as "mouth-nose-protection", which was a purposefully broad definition that included everyday objects, such as scarfs, towels, or homemade masks. (152) In some cases, non-medical masks were preferred, as Minister-President Winfried Kretschmann of Baden-Württemberg stated that medical masks should be reserved for healthcare workers. (151) Each state also varied in their implementation of a mask mandate. While all states required masks on public transit, Berlin was the only state that did not mandate masks when shopping. In Rhineland-Palatinate, students were given reusable masks upon returning to school. In Bavaria, masks were mandatory for everyone above the age of seven, and in Saxony-Anhalt, the minimum age was two years old. (151,152) Penalties for violating the mask mandate also varied wildly from state to state, with Bavaria issuing € 150 fines for first-time offenders, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania issuing only a € 25 fine, and some states only issuing warnings. (152)

On May 6, 2020, the first lockdown in Germany largely ended. Chancellor Merkel stated that Germany's goal of slowing COVID-19 spread had been achieved, so all shops could reopen, albeit with some restrictions still in place. (153) All 16 federal states reached an agreement with the federal government, which gave state governments the power to control the timing of the reopening and agree to operate an "emergency brake" in reopening if a new surge of infections



occurred. (153) General physical distancing policies were to continue for an additional month, and two households were allowed to meet and dine together. Nursing facilities were also open to limited visitors. Notably, local health authorities had the power to reimpose restrictions if new infection rates rose above 50 people/100,000 in a district over a seven-day period. (153)

In addition to loosened domestic restrictions, border restrictions also began to ease in May 2020. On May 15, 2020, border restrictions with Luxembourg were lifted, and on May 20, the mandated two-week quarantine no longer applied for travelers from any country with an infection rate below 50 people/100,000. (154) On June 15, 2020, all entry restrictions were lifted for EU nationals, and for people from the UK, Iceland, Norway, Switzerland, and Liechtenstein. (155) On July 1, 2020, Germany began to publish a biweekly list of low-risk countries who were excluded from any travel restrictions. (156) Travelers from countries absent from the list were permitted entry for essential reasons, such as urgent family visits and skilled workers in a crucial sector. At the same time, travelers from high-risk countries had to undergo mandatory free COVID-19 testing. However, starting in August 2020, rules surrounding international travel became stricter once again. This decision was in response to data showing that 40% of new cases were contracted overseas. (157) On August 8, 2020, the German Ministry of Health began to require travelers departing from a high-risk area to take a mandatory free COVID-19 test upon arrival. (158) A negative test within 48 hours was also acceptable if the test result was in German or English and had been approved by the RKI. On August 24, 2020, while COVID-19 testing was not required nor free upon arrival, travelers from high-risk areas were subjected to a 14-day quarantine. (157) The quarantine period was terminated on the fifth day if negative COVID-19 test results were produced.

Germany continued to employ testing and contact tracing to mitigate COVID-19 spread even after loosening restrictions. On April 20, 2020, federal and state governments announced that they would ensure a five-member contact tracing team per 20,000 people. (159) On May 8, 2020, Germany loosened its testing eligibility, with open public testing for all individuals. (160) On June 16, 2020, Germany launched its first contact tracing app, named "Corona-Warn-App". (161) People were encouraged to download the app, and a threshold of 60% of the population were required to use the app for it to be useful. The app exchanged anonymous codes with other smartphones that came within 2 meters for 15 minutes or longer. (162) Once someone notified the app that they had tested positive, a notification would be sent to their close contacts. However, the rollout of this app faced challenges. A poll found that only 42% of Germans would have downloaded the app at the time of rollout, with many others concerned about their privacy. (161) In July 2020, it was reported that the app was not working for five weeks due to technical issues with Apple and Android operating systems. (162) Additionally, by mid-July, the app only had 16 million downloads, far from the 60% threshold required to maintain efficacy.



As Germany entered the summer of 2020, daily new cases remained fairly low, with most days having less than 1000 new infections. Deaths were similarly low, with less than 20 new deaths per day. This positive pandemic outlook allowed some German states to loosen physical distancing policies. Starting June 13, 2020, Thuringia lifted all physical distancing and gathering restrictions, while recommending people limit their contacts to one other household or a maximum of 10 people. (163) Thuringia's Health Minister Heike Werner nonetheless emphasized the need for personal responsibility. Federally, the government remained more cautious. On August 27, 2020, in a meeting between Chancellor Merkel and the 16 state leaders, a nationwide ban on major public events was extended. (164) A minimum fine of \in 50 would also apply to the whole country for individuals caught violating mask mandates. However, there was no consensus on limiting the number of private event participants. Instead, the government leaders asked individual citizens to evaluate the necessity and justifiability of private celebrations. (164) From this point until November 2020, only the following restrictions remained: mask mandates, physical distancing requirements, group gathering limits in most states, university closures, limits around restaurant dining, and quarantine policies for cases, close contacts, and some travelers.

Wave 2

Beginning October 2020, cases began to rise again, with daily new cases being consistently over 10,000 starting October 22, 2020. (105) By October 28, 2020, contact tracing was overwhelmed in hotspot areas, with Berlin and some other communities giving up contact tracing altogether. (165) Instead, cases were instructed to inform their contacts themselves. Public health contact tracing would only continue for high-risk groups, such as hospital patients, nursing home residents, and homeless individuals. As of November 6, 2020, around 75% of new cases could not be fully contact traced. (166) Hence, media reports indicated that Germany's previously highly touted "test-contact trace-isolate" strategy started to fail. (165)

To combat this new wave of COVID-19, a new lockdown was introduced. On November 2, 2020, Chancellor Merkel declared a new partial lockdown, lasting one month. (167) Businesses that served food were closed for indoor dining, and only pick-up and take-out was allowed. All large events, entertainment, and public recreation facilities were closed. Sporting events could only proceed with no crowds. Unnecessary travel was strongly discouraged and overnight stays in hotels were banned for tourism. Employees were required to work from home if possible and employers needed to facilitate such transition. Public gatherings were restricted to two households or a maximum of ten people, with exceptions made for church and protests. Non-essential businesses were restricted to 1 customer/10m². Since different German states were at different levels of reopening before this wave, these measures by the federal government were designed to unify COVID-19 rules across all states. This nationwide lockdown also most likely meant that physical distancing of 1.5m in public spaces was re-established across all states. Interestingly, less than a week after this new partial lockdown was announced, mandatory quarantine for travelers from high-risk areas was reduced from 14 days to 10 days, with a five-



day minimum even if one tests negative. (168) It was unclear why this policy was loosened after a new round of restrictions and high case counts.

Despite the partial lockdown, the pandemic situation continued to worsen. By December 2020, new infections often surpassed 20,000 every day, with hundreds of new daily deaths. (105) In response, Chancellor Merkel transformed the partial lockdown into a full lockdown. (169) This lockdown would eventually receive extensions and only be lifted in May 2021. (170,171) On December 16, 2020, all non-essential businesses were ordered to close. (169) Private gathering limits were tightened to a maximum of five people. (172,173) However, exceptions were made between December 24-26 due to Christmas celebrations, during which a maximum of four close family members were allowed to gather in each household. Children aged up to 14 were exempted from the gathering restrictions throughout this lockdown. (173) Schools were also closed, and while children could theoretically attend ECEC centers, all states strongly urged parents to take their children home. (172,174) All higher education institutions were ordered to minimize the number of students and staff on campus. (119) Only essential administrative work was allowed on-site. Libraries were completely closed for purposes, including borrowing. Inperson teaching and exams were required to take place virtually.

On December 27, 2020, the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine began to be rolled out in German nursing homes following approval by the European Medicine Agency (EMA). (106) This news marked the beginning of a new stage of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany, as vaccines started to become an available tool for reducing infections and deaths. Throughout 2021, different COVID-19 vaccines became available to different groups in Germany at varying times, and vaccination status became an integral part of Germany's COVID-19 policies. For details on Germany's COVID-19 vaccine policies, see the *Vaccination Policies* section of this case report.

By January 2021, the new wave of COVID-19 continued to surge in Germany, and further restrictions were imposed. To halt the spread of new variants that were more transmissible, Germany banned all flights from the UK on December 20, 2020, and by January 30, 2021, the bans were extended to Ireland, Portugal, Brazil, and South Africa. (175,176) Exceptions were only made for German citizens and residents, and those transiting through Germany to non-Schengen countries. On January 13, 2021, while previous quarantine rules were not tightened, negative COVID-19 results within 48 hours of arrival were made mandatory for all travelers. (177) On January 5, 2021, private gathering limits were tightened to a maximum of just one person outside of a household, and in districts with more than 200 infections/100,000, individuals were limited to a travel distance of 15 km. (178) On January 20, 2021, Germany also mandated medical grade masks, such as single-use FFP or FFP-2 masks, in shops, workplaces, and on public transit. (179) Other forms of face coverings, like cloth masks or scarves, were no longer permitted.

Starting mid-February 2021 and into March 2021, daily infections and deaths declined and became roughly half of the peak in January 2021. (105) However, the numbers were still much



higher than they were in the summer of 2020. With this positive trend, Germany began to lift some restrictions. On February 22, 2021, ECEC centers and elementary schools began to open in 12 of the 16 states, with other states following suit not long after. (180,181) Starting in March 2021, all primary and secondary schools begin to open across Germany, with exact dates varying from state to state. (170) Hairdressers also became the first non-essential businesses to reopen in March 2021, given hygiene conditions were met. (170) Germany continued to be vigilant about international transmission. On February 14, 2021, Germany enacted a partial border closure with Czechia and the Tyrol region of Austria for three days due to a surge in mutated variants. (182) Physical checkpoints were set up by the police and only German citizens and residents who tested negative could enter, with exceptions for essential workers and urgent humanitarian reasons. On March 26, 2021, Germany issued travel warnings for France, Austria, Denmark, and Czechia due to rising infection rates in those countries. (183) Travelers who entered Germany from those countries must present a negative COVID-19 test taken within 48 hours and follow the pre-existing traveler guarantine policy after arrival. On March 30, all travellers needed to present a negative COVID-19 test conducted 48 hours before arrival, and only those who presented a test could board flights into Germany. (184) The tests were paid out of pocket by travelers, and both PCR and approved rapid tests were valid. Exemptions were given to airline crews and children under six years of age.

From April to June 2021, COVID-19 data continued to improve, with daily new infections dropping below 10,000 starting late May and daily deaths being consistently under 500 during that period. (105) The vaccine roll-out was also ramped up during this time, with around 20% of the German population being fully vaccinated by June 2021. (105) These positive trends led to the continued loosening of restrictions. On May 6, 2021, private gathering limits were completely lifted for fully vaccinated and previously infected individuals. (171) The next day, post-secondary institutions were allowed to increase the number of in-person education and research events. (119) This change was primarily done for practical and experimental training, such as labs, artistic exercises, and exams. The exact implementation of this shift was up to individual universities, and they needed to abide by the requirements of the amended Federal Infection Protection Act. By June 11, 2021, all primary and secondary schools had returned to complete in-person instruction. (185) To mitigate further disease spread, N95 or KN95 masks became mandatory on public transit and the more centralized contact tracing app, named "Luca" was launched. (186,187) On April 23, 2021, the German labor law was amended with the new Section 28b, which required employers to allow work from home if possible. (188) This legislation was meant to ease future transitions to remote work if needed. Travel restrictions were also loosened at this time. On April 15, 2020, border entry was permitted for EU and Schengen countries, and EU-approved low-infection countries. (189) However, entry from other countries was only permitted for urgent reasons. On May 13, 2021, fully vaccinated or recovered travelers could skip the mandatory quarantine and testing process. (190) However, negative test results (within 48 hours for antigen test and 72 hours for PCR test) were still required for unvaccinated passengers and those from countries designated as "virus-variant



areas". (191) On June 25, 2020, Germany was open for non-essential travel for fully vaccinated individuals from non-EU countries, with a continued ban for travelers from virus-variant areas. (192)

By July 2021, the new wave of COVID-19 that began in December 2020 had largely ended. While there were still significant numbers of new daily infections, daily deaths were below 100 for most days from July to October 2021. (105) In terms of the number of deaths, this second wave was the most devastating for Germany. Between December 1, 2020, and July 1, 2021, more than 74,000 people died from COVID-19. (105) At this time, fully vaccinated individuals also comprised around 40% of Germany's population, which led to the 3G, 2G, and 2G+ rules. (193) These rules were an integral part of Germany's reopening after wave 2 and its more targeted restrictions in wave 3. 3G was short for "Geimpfte, Genesene, und Getestete", referring to individuals who were fully vaccinated, fully recovered, **or** had tested negative for COVID-19. (193) 2G was short for "Geimpfte und Genesene", referring to those who were fully vaccinated or fully recovered. 2G+, the strictest of the three, referred to 2G populations who also must carry an additional negative COVID-19 test result. Businesses, facilities, and services that implemented the above rules would only allow entry or service to people that met the definition of their G rule requirements.

In the summer of 2021, Germany continued to relax restrictions. On July 1, 2021, the workfrom-home requirement was lifted, and beginning in August 2021, small in-person classes could be conducted at universities with proper distancing and ventilation. (119,194) Hybrid teaching formats continued to be offered. (119) On August 23, 2021, indoor dining at restaurants and all indoor events and venues were allowed to resume under the 3G rule. (195–197) However, some states limited these privileges to the 2G rule. Starting in October 2021, mask mandates in some areas, such as schools and nightclubs, were lifted in the following states: North Rhine-Westphalia, Bavaria, and Saarland. (198,199) Bavaria and Saarland reopened sex work facilities and other entertainment venues to 3G populations, and public festival restrictions were lifted. (199) Unvaccinated employees in businesses involving public contact were required to undergo two PCR tests per week. Both states also lifted most other restrictions, including mandatory minimum distancing requirements, which transitioned into recommendations. (199) North Rhine-Westphalia also restored full seating capacity at concerts and sports events.

Despite a new round of reopening, some restrictions continued. From July to December 2021, some schools experiencing outbreaks faced restrictions or closures. (200) However, no nationwide school closures were ordered for the remainder of the pandemic. On August 1, 2021, all unvaccinated travelers needed to undergo mandatory COVID-19 testing, regardless of their means of transportation. (201) On August 24, 2021, nursing home visits were put under the 2G rule. (195) Notably, nursing home closures were never officially ordered during wave 2, and many remained open. (202) Although many of them remained open, the number of visitors declined in the winter of 2021. On September 6, 2021, Lufthansa banned cloth masks and required medical-grade masks on their flights. (203)



During wave 2, testing and contact tracing took a back seat compared to wave 1. Nonetheless, there were new developments in their policies during this period. In March 2021, at-home rapid COVID-19 tests became available, and all German residents could receive one free test each week. (204) On October 11, 2021, all free testing ended to encourage vaccination, with exemptions for minors and those with medical conditions. (195) Tests were still available for those willing to pay. As of July 29, 2020, contact tracing policies varied by state. For example, in Hamburg, guests needed to register with the Luca tracing app before entering businesses. (205) Whereas in Hessen, restaurants used Luca or asked guests to complete physical contact forms, with no stores conducting contact tracing. By late August 2021, the Luca contact tracing app became commonplace for businesses across Germany. (195)

Wave 3

Starting in November 2021, Germany marked the beginning of its largest wave of COVID-19 in terms of the number of infections. (105) In early November 2021, new daily cases often surpassed 15,000 per day, and on November 22, 2021, daily new cases surpassed 100,000 for the first time in Germany. The situation continued to worsen into December 2021 and the early months of 2022. This wave was heavily driven by the new and far more infectious Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant, which was first detected in Germany on November 24, 2021. (206,207) In response to soaring cases, Germany enacted a new round of restrictions. However, this round of restriction was more targeted towards unvaccinated individuals per the 3G, 2G, or 2G+ rules.

A major political event in Germany around this time also heavily influenced the country's pandemic response. Germany held a federal election on September 26, 2021, which resulted in the victory of the centre-left Social Democratic Party of Germany (SPD), ending the 16-year reign of the centre-right Christian Democratic Union (CDU) under the leadership of Angela Merkel. (104,208) In late October 2021, SPD entered negotiations with the Green Party and the business-centric Free Democratic Party (FDP), eventually forming a coalition government with them. (68,209) Under the influence of the incoming SPD coalition, Germany ended the COVID-19 state of emergency on November 25, 2021, despite recognizing rising infection. (104) All three parties in the coalition appeared to be antagonistic to additional restrictions, with the vice-chairman of the SPD parliamentary group Dirk Wiese stating, "School closures, lockdowns, and curfews will no longer happen with us.". (104) Wiese also stated that COVID-19 no longer posed a serious threat and favored low-intervention measures. Similarly, leaders of the Green Party and the FDP also urged a quick return to normalcy and an end to all restrictions by March 2022. (104) The SPD coalition officially came into power on December 8, 2021, with Olaf Scholz replacing Angela Merkel as the Federal Chancellor of Germany. (69)

In November 2021, less than a month after ending the free COVID-19 test policy, Germany reintroduced free tests to the public due to high case counts. (210) Despite readily available testing, contact tracing was essentially non-existent. On December 24, 2021, Berlin, Baden-Wuerttemberg, and Hamburg officially suspended all contact tracing operations due to the

overwhelming workload. (211) In other areas of Germany, remaining contact tracing focused on simply recording the number of cases, rather than tracking down and isolating contacts to break the chain of infection. Around Mid-November 2021, both Bavaria and Saxony mandated all restaurants to close by 10 pm and 8 pm, respectively, and restaurants in both states needed to operate under the 2G rule. (212) In addition, Bavaria introduced the 2G rule for all non-essential businesses in the state, and sports and cultural events were limited to 25% capacity and subjected to the stricter 2G+ rule. In Saxony, all entertainment and public venues were closed, and all retail stores operated under the 2G rule and needed to close by 8 pm. (212) For health districts that had an incidence rate greater than 1,000 cases/100,000, a curfew was enacted between 10 pm-6 am. (212) However, these restrictions were localized to the two states and were not done nationwide.

Several nationwide policies were enacted around the same time. On November 19, 2021, a new set of guidelines were implemented across Germany, using the local hospitalization rate as the threshold. (212,213) If the rate was above 3/100,000, then the 2G rule would be in place for all venues and services, such as non-essential businesses and nursing homes. If the rate surpassed 6/100,000, then the 2G+ rule would apply. On November 24, 2021, in-person workplaces were open only to the 3G population, with a remote work option offered to workers if possible. (214,215) Unvaccinated employees needed to take a daily COVID-19 test and present a negative result. On December 3, 2021, Germany placed all unvaccinated people on lockdown, banning them from entering non-essential businesses and banning gatherings of more than two people between households. (216) Bars and nightclubs were also ordered to close in areas with incident rates greater than 350 cases/100,000 people. (216) On December 28, 2021, restaurants were placed under the 2G rule federally, and all private gatherings were limited to a maximum of ten vaccinated people. (217,218) All large events across Germany were closed to the public. (217) During this time, there were no school or daycare closures, and German universities even opened in-person courses to 2G students, with alternatives provided for non-2G students. (119)

In addition to restrictions at home, international travel also became more restricted. Between November 26 and December 19, 2021, more countries were added to the flight ban list due to the Omicron variant, which was in accordance with the virus variant area policy of June 2021. (219–221) Starting December 19, 2021, all travelers from the UK must quarantine for 14 days, as opposed to ten days, and produce a negative test. (222) However, this requirement for UK travelers was soon dropped on January 4, 2022. (223) A few days later, it was announced all airport entries would only be open to 2G+ individuals, with exceptions made for travelers under 6 years old. (224)

Daily COVID-19 cases peaked in Germany between January and March 2022, with most days recording daily six-digit infections. (105) This situation did not improve until May 2022. However, during this period, daily new deaths were significantly lower than in the peak of wave 2. (105) The reduced death rate may be attributable to a variety of factors, including the high



full vaccination rate (74% by February 2, 2022) and Omicron's intrinsic reduced lethality. (105,225) Starting in January 2022, Germany began to loosen restrictions despite high case counts. Starting January 7, 2022, close contacts of a positive case were no longer required to quarantine if they were a part of the 3G population. (226) All non-3G populations were permitted to reduce the guarantine period from 14 days to 10 days, which could be cut short with the presentation of a negative test result. On January 22, 2022, it was announced that PCR tests were restricted to medical staff and vulnerable populations due to limited laboratory capacity. (227) Prior to this announcement, all positive rapid antigen tests needed to be confirmed by a PCR test. The German government then announced a three-stage reopening plan for all populations, starting February 16, 2022. (228,229) As a part of Stage 1 reopening, members of the 2G population could meet with no limitations, even if one person in the group was not a 2G individual. Gathering limits would remain for non-2G groups. (228) Proof of vaccination was no longer required at grocery stores and unvaccinated individuals could shop with no restrictions. (229) Stage 2, which began on March 4, 2022, opened restaurants and hotels to 3G populations. (230) Entertainment venues, such as clubs and discos, also reopened, but only for 2G+ populations. Stadiums could reach 75% full capacity or a maximum of 25,000 people. Indoor venues were reopened for 60% capacity or a maximum of 6,000 people, with a 2G rule required. Finally, on March 19, 2022, Stage 3 reopening began, which lifted all COVID-19 physical distancing policies across the country, with life returning to pre-pandemic normalcy in most cases. (231) The new German Health Minister, Karl Lauterbach stated, "We can't continue to shield the whole country to protect a small group of those unwilling to be vaccinated". (231) However, state governments and German businesses retained their right to impose their own restrictions should the pandemic worsen. While a 1.5 m distance was no longer required in the public, it was still recommended by many government websites. (232) At the same time, German employers needed to implement the AHA+L (Abstand, Hygiene, Alltagsmaske + Luften) hygiene measures. (233) These measures include a 1.5 m distance, hand hygiene and proper cough etiquette, indoor medical masking if multiple people were in the same area and when a 1.5 m distance was not possible, and proper ventilation.

Similarly, international travel rules were loosened. Starting March 3, 2022, Germany stopped using the high-risk country list, and all entry rules were lifted for travelers belonging to the 3G population, regardless of the country of origin. (234,235) However, non-3G travelers from non-EU countries could only enter Germany for essential reasons. (235) On June 1, 2022, the 3G requirement was lifted and no travelers faced quarantine requirements. (236) Ten days later, all entry restrictions were lifted, and proof of vaccination, recovery, or testing was no longer required. (237) From that point on, Germany's international travel policies essentially returned to what it was like pre-COVID.

From April 2022 onwards, Germany continued to loosen non-distancing COVID-19 policies. Mask mandates were officially lifted on April 2, 2022, in most settings. (238) The few locations the mandates remained were on public transit (including long-distance trains and flights), in hospitals, and in nursing homes. (231) The types of masks required in those settings varied by



state, and businesses could still mandate masks on their properties. (239) However, Health Minister Lauterbach continued to recommend indoor masking. (238,240) Starting April 30, 2022, guarantine for infected individuals was reduced to five days, after which they were recommended to conduct a rapid test and continue to guarantine until testing negative. (241,242) For people working in healthcare and rehabilitation facilities and nursing homes, a negative test and a 48-hour prior symptom-free period was needed to return to work. Close contacts of a positive case were no longer required to quarantine but were only strongly recommended to undergo five days of isolation. (241,242) For people working in the previously mentioned settings, daily COVID-19 tests were mandatory before returning to work during the five-day isolation. All COVID-19 restrictions in universities were lifted on May 31, 2022, but many classes already returned to in-person lectures for the Summer 2022 semester. (243) Some universities even require professors to justify the continued use of online lectures. (244) In July 2022, Chancellor Olaf Scholz publicly stated that Germany will not close schools or nonessential businesses again even if the COVID-19 infection rate rose later in 2022. (245) He stated, "There should not be school closures again, and I also don't think that we will need the kind of lockdowns we had several times in the last couple of years".

Despite a series of reopenings, COVID-19 infections eventually declined in May 2022. (105) Regardless, daily infections remained higher than in the previous two waves. On August 31, 2022, there were 49,303 new cases and 181 new deaths in Germany. This daily case count was higher than the peak during the winter of 2021, but with a much lower death rate. By the end of data collection, Germany had a total of 32,145,157 reported COVID-19 cases and 147,404 reported deaths. Only a few public health policies remained by that date, including mask mandates in certain settings, a five-day quarantine for positive cases, a five-day recommended isolation for close contacts, and indoor masking recommendations.

Vaccination policies

COVID-19 vaccines first became available in Germany on December 27, 2020. (106) The majority of vaccines used in Germany required two doses to be considered fully vaccinated, with the exception being the vaccine by Johnson & Johnson (J&J), which initially only required one dose for full vaccination. (246) The low initial vaccine supply led Germany to adopt a gradual vaccine roll-out, prioritizing the most vulnerable populations, such as the elderly, and prioritizing giving the first dose to as many vulnerable individuals as possible before rolling out additional doses. (247) In November 2020, Germany and its various states prepared a 15-page document on a vaccine distribution strategy that sought to avoid logistical challenges. (248) The document allowed states to set up vaccination centers early on and established tasks and workflows. However, despite this preparation, Germany's initial roll-out was nonetheless hampered by low supply and logistical challenges. The first two vaccines approved by the European Medicine Agency (EMA) were the mRNA vaccines by Pfizer-BioNTech (Pfizer) and Moderna, both of which had more stringent storage temperature requirements. (249) Stringent privacy laws in some states also delayed the process, with some workers attempting to guess a



person's age by their name, with individuals with stereotypically "older" names being invited for a vaccine regardless of their actual age. (250)

Soon after the Pfizer vaccine, the Moderna COVID-19 vaccine also became available. (251) Both vaccines use mRNA technology. Around the same time, the AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine, a viral vector vaccine, was also available. (252) However, on January 28, 2021, Germany's Standing Committee on Vaccinations (STIKO) restricted its use to only people under the age of 65 as it lacked efficacy data for older populations. (252) The vaccine also encountered supply issues within the EU. AstraZeneca's lack of efficacy data also led to public mistrust, and by the end of February 2021, more than a million doses of AstraZeneca vaccines were in storage and saw limited uptake. (253) On March 31, 2021, Germany halted the use of AstraZeneca for everyone under 60 due to the occurrence of blood clots in younger individuals. (254) Those under 60 who had already received a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine were given a different vaccine for their second doses. (255) However, this ban did not last long, with Germany re-allowing the use of AstraZeneca for all adults on May 6, 2021. (256) Four days later, the J&J vaccine, another viral vector vaccine, became available for all German adults despite having similar blood clot incidents as AstraZeneca. (257) On July 2, 2021, Germany officially recommended mixing vaccines, such as an individual receiving both non-mRNA and mRNA vaccines to complete a two-dose series. (258) Starting November 10, 2021, Germany recommended only the Pfizer vaccine for individuals under 30 years old due to higher myocarditis risks associated with the Moderna vaccine for that population. (259) On February 22, 2022, the Novavax COVID-19 vaccine became the most recent vaccine available in Germany. (260) It is a protein subunit vaccine that was meant for individuals unable or unwilling to receive mRNA vaccines.

In early 2021, Germany had three vaccination priority groups. (247) Group 1 (highest priority) included individuals over the age of 80, and people working in intensive care units (ICUs), emergency rooms (ERs), and senior care homes. Group 2 included people between the ages of 70-80, and group 3 included people between 60-70. Ineligible individuals who received early vaccinations were liable for criminal prosecution. (261) These priority groups ended on June 7, 2021, with everyone above the age of 16 now eligible for vaccination. (262) Around the same time, Germany also took steps to stretch the limited vaccine supply. On January 4, 2021, Germany began to consider delaying the second vaccine dose beyond the 42-day maximum determined by the EMA. (263) On March 4, 2021, Germany implemented a maximum 42-day interval for the second dose of mRNA vaccines and a maximum interval of 12 weeks for the second dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine. (264) Also, Germany decided to only administer one vaccine dose to people who recovered from a COVID-19 infection in the previous six months. (265) As of April 3, 2021, 10 million Germans had received at least one dose and 4.3 million had received two doses. (266)

Starting in the summer of 2021, Germany expanded vaccine eligibility and began the roll-out of second and booster doses. Starting August 2, 2021, all individuals aged 12-17 could be



vaccinated, and in September 2021, Germany began to offer mRNA boosters to seniors, medical workers, workers in care homes, immunocompromised individuals, and all individuals fully vaccinated with non-mRNA vaccines. (267–269) Pregnant women were also recommended to be vaccinated in the same month. (270) On October 11, 2021, Germany recommended boosters for everyone above the age of 70, and this recommendation was expanded to all 18+ individuals in November, with a recommended minimum gap of six months. (271,272) On December 13, 2021, STIKO recommended children at risk or those who have relatives at risk of COVID-19 receive vaccinations, with healthy children also able to do so following a doctor consultation. (273,274) On December 21, 2021, STIKO shortened the minimum booster interval to 3 months, and in January 2022, boosters were recommended for youths aged 12-17, albeit only for the Pfizer vaccine. (275,276)

Germany's vaccination policies continued to evolve in 2022. By this point, more than 70% of Germany's population had been vaccinated. (105) On January 19, 2022, Germany disqualified individuals who received one dose of the J&J vaccine from the fully vaccinated status, requiring them to receive an additional mRNA or J&J vaccine dose. (277) This change was due to efficacy issues with the J&J vaccine. From February to July 2022, Germany began to recommend a 4th-dose to its population, starting with people aged 70 years and older, then gradually expanded it to all adults. (278–280) On May 24, 2022, STIKO recommended healthy children receive only one dose since many of them were previously infected. (281) As of June 2022, children aged 5-11 received a low-dose version of the Pfizer vaccine (3 micrograms per dose, 3 doses). (282,283) This version was then approved for children between the ages of six months and four years old by the EMA in October 2022 and was recommended for at-risk children in that age group in Germany the next month. (283,284)

Vaccine hesitancy was another issue for the German authorities to tackle. Vaccine hesitancy manifested as both individual actions and group initiatives. After Germany began to issue an EU-wide vaccination pass that allowed for travel in June 2021, fraudsters began to sell fake passes to individuals who refused to be vaccinated. (285,286) In August 2021, there was also a media report of thousands of people receiving a saline injection due to intentional sabotage by a vaccine-hesitant nurse. (287) There were many individuals who did not show up for their vaccine appointments as they were satisfied with one dose and did not want a second dose to be fully vaccinated. (288) On January 24, 2022, anti-vaccine protests also occurred in Germany. (289) These protests involved tens of thousands of participants and even turned violent in some occasions.

To address vaccine hesitancy, Germany's strategy was more focused on punitive measures. Starting November 1, remuneration for workers under quarantine due to a positive COVID-19 test result was discontinued for unvaccinated individuals. (290) On December 9, 2021, Germany enacted a lockdown for unvaccinated individuals. (216) Later, in 2022, Germany considered a vaccine mandate for the elderly, but this motion was rejected by the parliament. (291) However, on May 19, 2022, the German Constitutional Court approved a vaccine mandate for



healthcare workers. (292) In addition to these measures, Germany also tried to encourage vaccination by increasing accessibility, such as the "vaccine action week" in September 2021, during which vaccines were offered near supermarkets, stadiums, and on trains. (293)

Relief programs and other supporting policies

On March 27, 2020, the German parliament passed a COVID-19 stimulus package to support individuals and businesses during the lockdown. (294,295) This package included many economic relief policies. (294) Self-employed individuals could apply for direct loans of up to € 9,000 over a three-month period. Eligibility for long-term unemployment benefits (Hartz IV) and child support was temporarily expanded. Recipients were now only required to present proof of a short-term income decrease as opposed to the six-month period proof that was required before the pandemic. Funds were provided for parents who stopped working or worked less due to school closures. The German government also covered 60% or more of the salaries of short-term employees. In terms of housing, evictions were banned for individuals who missed rent payments due to COVID-19 income loss. The authorities were instructed to presume a connection between reduced income and the pandemic as they judged these cases. This policy was especially crucial as most Germans are renters. (296)

For businesses, companies needed to prove that 10% of their workforce was affected by COVID-19 measures to qualify for employee salary coverage. (294) Businesses were eligible for direct loans of \notin 9,000 – 15,000 over a three-month period, depending on their number of employees. For large businesses, a national fund was set up to take on their liabilities and this fund could guarantee up to \notin 400 billion in liabilities. The Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) state development bank also enabled emergency loans to companies that faced cash flow issues. Another fund of \notin 100 billion was established to protect large German companies from hostile takeovers, with the government willing to purchase stakes in major employers, with the promise of later re-privatization. Companies were also allowed to calculate owed taxes later in the year and insolvency regulations were loosened.

On May 23, 2020, Germany enacted additional policies to support senior care homes. (297) Employees were eligible for a one-time benefit of up to € 1,000, with full-time staff in direct contact roles receiving the maximum amount. State governments and individual care homes could add an additional € 500 to the maximum amount. This benefit was exempt from tax and social security deductions. Monetary bonuses were also provided for trainees, volunteers, and temporary workers. From May 23 to September 30, 2020, some long-term care providers could receive reimbursements of € 125/month for reduced income and extraordinary expenses. Workers under quarantine orders could also receive reimbursements for lost earnings.

On June 4, 2020, Germany unveiled another € 130 billion COVID-19 recovery package. (298) From July 1 to December 31, 2020, Germany's sales tax was cut from 19% to 16%. A one-time € 300 payment for every child in Germany became available, and a € 25 billion loan program



was established for small businesses whose sales dropped more than 60% from June to August 2020. This package also included a \notin 6,000 government subsidy to encourage electric vehicle (EV) purchases. In November and December 2020, the German government designated funds to compensate businesses for up to 75% of their monthly sales. (299) On December 8, 2020, Germany sped up the distribution process, increasing the initial payout from \notin 10,000 to \notin 50,000. After 2020, there were no further reports found regarding any new economic relief policies by the German federal government.

In addition to economic relief policies, Germany also took limited steps towards telehealth, so the German people could access healthcare more easily during lockdowns. Just before the pandemic, in November 2019, Germany passed the Digital Healthcare Act (Digitale-Versorgung-Gesetz). The bill allowed doctors to prescribe medical mobile apps to their patients and the apps could be reimbursed by the public health insurance plan, similar to a medical device. (300) This legislation paved the legal path for expanded telemedicine during COVID-19. By March 2020, many medical documents (e.g., prescriptions, doctor letters) were legally allowed in digital channels and many telehealth tools have been recognized by the Federal Ministry of Health. (301,302) The Ministry published those tools with comprehensive specifications (e.g., costs, reimbursement policies) that helped doctors integrate those tools into their practices. (301) A month later, low-risk medical apps could receive fast-tracked approval from BfArm within three months. (302) On September 22, 2020, then-Health Minister Jens Spahn announced \in 3 billion for digitizing German hospitals, with funding available starting in 2021. (303) Telehealth continued to grow in 2021, with electronic medical record (EMR) access mandated for all providers under public health insurance and many German hospitals using virtual networks to consult specialists. (302,304) However, unlike rapid advances in telehealth, the use of electronic prescriptions (e-prescriptions) progressed slowly in comparison. There were numerous local pilot projects for e-prescriptions in Germany from May 2020 to July 2021, and full implementation of the technology was only planned for September 2022 in the states of Schleswig-Holstein and North Rhine-Westphalia. (297,305–307)

Disproportionately affected populations

Foreign workers in the meat industry in Germany were disproportionately affected by COVID-19. In May and June 2020, several large outbreaks occurred at meat factories, among workers primarily from Bulgaria, Poland, and Romania. (308) Many foreign workers lived in crowded dorms with unclean living conditions, making at-home quarantine nearly impossible. These outbreaks led to local lockdowns around the factory, with the German military being called in to conduct testing for workers and their families in some areas. (309) In response to these outbreaks, the then-German Labour Minister proposed to increase worker protection regulations in the meat industry. (308) However, this move received pushback from representatives from the meat industry. They argued outbreaks would have happened regardless of living conditions due to the meat industry's status as a critical industry that needed to remain open.



In addition, the elderly in Germany's care homes were especially vulnerable. Even after seniors were vaccinated, outbreaks occurred at some nursing homes and led to deaths. (310,311) It was found that in some cases, many employees were not vaccinated, leading some states, like Brandenburg, to introduce stricter testing requirements for nursing home employees. (311) Before vaccinations, Germany relied on isolating seniors to protect them from COVID-19. However, this approach was traumatic for many residents and families, who lost the ability to see their loved ones, especially those who were already dying. (124) Many family members were also concerned about the quality of care the seniors received during isolation. Hence, not only was COVID-19 more deadly for the seniors, but it also worsened their mental and emotional health.

Successes and Challenges in Germany's Pandemic Response

This study identified and contacted seven key informants in Germany to gather additional information about Germany's COVID-19 response. However, none responded to an interview request. Nonetheless, media reports identified several successes and challenges in Germany's response.

Germany was initially at the forefront of COVID-19 testing and contact tracing. Germany's Charité hospital developed one of the first tests specific to SARS-CoV-2, which enabled Germany to quickly expand its testing capacity. (312) Germany successfully incentivized private laboratories to expand their capacity by mandating insurance coverage for COVID-19 tests. Bavaria – the German state with the first COVID-19 outbreak, also successfully broke the chain of transmission among its first cluster of cases. (312) This success gave Germany time to learn more about SARS-Cov-2, such as its method of transmission and incubation period. Even as cases grew rapidly in the first half of 2020, local and national health authorities focused heavily on contact tracing every infected case, using a combination of increased staffing, citizen science projects, and digital contact tracing tools. (312) Additionally, despite being a federalist country with a highly decentralized healthcare system, Germany had a united initial approach. All levels of government were clear in their communication with the public. (313) The city of Jena issued the first mask mandate in Germany, with its success credited to the flexibility to experiment in a federalist system and transparent communication of masks' benefits and drawbacks. (313) Soon after the epidemiological benefits of masks became apparent in Jena, all 16 German states adopted the policy. According to Dr. Clemens Wendtner of the Ludwig-Maximilian University in Germany, "There was a very close interaction between scientists, physicians, and politicians". (313)

As the pandemic progressed, Germany's detailed contact tracing system was challenged by surging workloads. In the second half of 2020, Merkel's spokesman publicly admitted, "In many communities it is no longer possible to do proper contact-tracing. The infection numbers are just too high". (165) Similar sentiments were echoed by local health authorities, such as in Frankfurt, whose leader stated, "Contact-tracing to the full extent is no longer possible". (165)



This challenge continued despite recruiting additional personnel, and since then, Germany's contact tracing system could no longer break chains of transmission. Furthermore, Germany's nationwide response became more fragmented as time went on. Germany's early success contributed to a sense of complacency and lower adherence to public health policies. (313) Some state leaders, such as the School Minister of North Rhine-Westphalia stated that masks in schools were "no longer necessary". (313) This rhetoric fueled the anti-lockdown movement in Germany, leading to a less united public. It was particularly challenging for the heads of the states to agree on common measures and the federal government took a much longer time to persuade them to commit to a stricter lockdown.



Comparison with other country responses

There are many concerns in trying to compare countries' responses to COVID-19. Those concerns are shaped by the limitations of the data itself and differences in contextual factors. A separate paper by this working group describes the limitations of COVID-19 data. (314) Table 4 presents a list of countries included in this project and their use of different physical distancing policies.



Table 4. Comparative national-level responses to COVID-19 by country as of August 2020 (filled in means policy was implemented)

AUS BGD BRA CAN CHN CRI CUB DNK DJI EGY ENG FRA GER GHA IND IRN IRE ISR ITA KAZ LBR NDL NZL NIR PAK RUS SCL SLE SGP ZAF KOR SRI SWEUGA UAE VM WLS

 AUS-Australia, BGD-Bangladesh, BRA-Brazil, CAN-Canada, CHN- China, CRI- Costa Rica, CUB-Cuba, DNK-Denmark, DJI-Djibouti, EGY-Egypt, ENG-England, FRA-France, GER- Germany, GHA-Ghana, IND-India, IRN-Iran, IRE-Ireland, ISR- Israel, ITA- Italy, KAZ-Kazakhstan, LBR- Liberia, NDL-Netherlands, NZL- New Zealand, NIR-Northern Ireland, PAK-Pakistan, RUS-Russia, SCL-Scotland, SLE-Sierra Leone, SGP-Singapore, ZAF-South Africa, KOR-South Korea, SRI-Sri Lanka, SWE- Sweden, UGA- Uganda, UAE-United Arab Emirates, VM-Vietnam, WLS-Wales



IV. Discussion of main findings, limitations, and next steps

Germany has an estimated population of 83,369,840 with 32,145,157 cases and 147,404 deaths from COVID-19 as of August 31, 2022. (105) Germany initially tried to contain the pandemic by testing and quarantining travellers, especially those from countries first affected by COVID-19. Once community transmission took hold, Germany employed a mitigation strategy that focused on keeping infections within the capacity of the healthcare system.

Germany employed a variety of policies, such as the closure of non-essential businesses, public mask mandates, restrictions on public and private gatherings, physical distancing, and border restrictions. Germany began implementing mitigation measures for COVID-19 in March 2020, with the announcement of their first nationwide lockdown. Germany experienced three main waves of COVID-19: wave 1 between March and June 2020, wave 2 between November 2020 and July 2021, and wave 3 between November 2021 and May 2022. Mitigation measures were imposed and lifted cyclically, with the lifting of policies coinciding with stabilized infection and death counts or high vaccination rates.

In 2021 and 2022, Germany focused on vaccinating their population. Despite facing initial challenges with vaccine roll-out due to supply shortages and logistical challenges, Germany successfully vaccinated over 70% of their population in 2021. Germany prioritized vaccinating the elderly and medical workers, then gradually recommending vaccines to younger populations, and offering further doses.

This case study allowed for an in-depth understanding of Germany's COVID-19 policies for a span of more than two years. Limitations to this report may exist because findings relied on accurate, up-to-date reporting of policy responses by the media and government sources. Some sources were only found in German, creating a language barrier. Translation software was used to minimize the language barrier as much as possible. Seven relevant key informants in Germany were also contacted, with none responding to an interview request.

Conclusions

Germany has used a variety of policies in their COVID-19 response. Germany experienced varying success with using testing, contact tracing, and lockdowns to reduce COVID-19 cases and deaths. Germany's successful COVID-19 vaccine roll-out enabled the country to open their economy without significant increases in deaths. In the future, it will be important for Germany to reassess whether their disease contact tracing capacity can be relied upon in future epidemics.



References

1. Rolling updates on coronavirus disease (COVID-19) [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/events-as-they-happen

2. Statement on the second meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee regarding the outbreak of novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/news/item/30-01-2020-statement-on-the-second-meeting-of-the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-outbreak-of-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)

3. Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on COVID-19 Final Report [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19-final-report.pdf

4. Weible CM, Nohrstedt D, Cairney P, Carter DP, Crow DA, Durnová AP, et al. COVID-19 and the policy sciences: initial reactions and perspectives. Policy Sci [Internet]. 2020 Jun [cited 2023 Feb 1];53(2):225–41. Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11077-020-09381-4

5. Ferguson NM, Laydon D, Nedjati-Gilani G, Natsuko I, Ainslie K, Baguelin M. Report 9 -Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID-19 mortality and healthcare demand [Internet]. Imperial College London. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.imperial.ac.uk/medicine/departments/school-public-health/infectiousdisease-epidemiology/mrc-global-infectious-disease-analysis/covid-19/report-9-impact-of-npison-covid-19/

6. Ho S. Breaking down the COVID-19 numbers: Should we be comparing countries? [Internet]. CTV News. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://www.ctvnews.ca/health/coronavirus/breaking-down-the-covid-19-numbers-should-we-be-comparing-countries-1.4874552

7. D'Adamo H, Yoshikawa T, Ouslander JG. Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Geriatrics and Long-Term Care: The The ABCDs of COVID-19. J Am Geriatr Soc [Internet]. 2020 May [cited 2023 Feb 1];68(5):912–7. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jgs.16445

8. Kluge HHP. Older people are at highest risk from COVID-19, but all must act to prevent community spread [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/03-04-2020-statement-older-people-are-at-highest-risk-from-covid-19-but-all-must-act-to-prevent-community-spread

9. Jin JM, Bai P, He W, Wu F, Liu XF, Han DM, et al. Gender Differences in Patients With COVID-19: Focus on Severity and Mortality. Front Public Health [Internet]. 2020 Apr 29 [cited 2023 Feb 1];8:152. Available from:

https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00152/full



10. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Why sex and gender need to be considered in COVID-19 research - CIHR [Internet]. CIHR. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/51939.html

11. Vocke M. Trust between Canadians and government improving during COVID-19 outbreak: survey | Globalnews.ca [Internet]. Global News. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://globalnews.ca/news/6791574/coronavirus-trust-canadians-government-survey/

12. WHO Regional offices [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/about/who-we-are/regional-offices

13. United Nations Population Division. Population, total | Data [Internet]. The World Bank.2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?most_recent_value_desc=true

14. Food and Agriculture Organization. Land area (sq. km) | Data [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/AG.LND.TOTL.K2

15. World Development Indicators. Population density [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://databank.worldbank.org/embed/COVID-19-Database-(population-density)/id/9dd8868f

16. Central Intelligence Agency. Germany [Internet]. The World Factbook. 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/germany/

17. COVID-19 Database (urban population) [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://databank.worldbank.org/embed/COVID-19-Database-(urban-population)/id/f26f04a6

 Google News. Coronavirus (COVID-19) by Google News [Internet]. Google News. 2023
 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from: https://news.google.com/covid19/map?hl=en-CA&gl=CA&ceid=CA:en

19. The 2021 Global Health Security Index [Internet]. GHS Index. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.ghsindex.org/

20. Brauer M. PM2.5 air pollution, mean annual exposure (micrograms per cubic meter) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.PM25.MC.M3?view=chart

21. Brauer M. PM2.5 air pollution, population exposed to levels exceeding WHO guideline value (% of total) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.PM25.MC.ZS?view=chart

22. United Nations Population Division. International migrant stock (% of population) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2015 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SM.POP.TOTL.ZS

23. Wellcome Trust Global Monitor. Share of people who trust their national government [Internet]. Our World in Data. 2019 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/share-who-trust-government

24. International Telecommunication Union (ITU) World Telecommunication/ICT Indicators Database. Mobile cellular subscriptions (per 100 people) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.CEL.SETS.P2 25. International Telecommunication Union (ITU) World Telecommunication/ICT Indicators
Database. Individuals using the Internet (% of population) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2019
[cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.NET.USER.ZS
26. Country Rankings: World & Global Economy Rankings on Economic Freedom [Internet].

26. Country Rankings: World & Global Economy Rankings on Economic Freedom [Internet].2021 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: //www.heritage.org/index/ranking

27. World Development Indicators. The World by Income and Region [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/the-world-by-income-and-region.html

28. World Bank, Poverty and Inequality Platform. Gini index [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI/

29. International Comparison Program, World Bank. GDP per capita, PPP (current international \$) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD

30. International Comparison Program, World Bank. GNI per capita, PPP (current international \$) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.PP.CD

31. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Current health expenditure (CHE) as percentage of gross domestic product (GDP) (%) - Data by country [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.GHEDCHEGDPSHA2011v

32. International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Vulnerable employment [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://databank.worldbank.org/embed/COVID-19-Database-(Vulnerable-employment)/id/19517473

33. OECD Affordable Housing Database. HC3.1 Homeless population [Internet]. OECD Social Policy Division. 2020. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/els/family/HC3-1-Homeless-population.pdf

34. UNESCO Institute for Statistics. Literacy rate, adult total (% of people ages 15 and above) [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 8]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.ADT.LITR.ZS

35. Countries Compared by Education > Literacy > Female [Internet]. NationMaster. [cited 2023 Feb 8]. Available from: http://www.nationmaster.com/country-

info/stats/Education/Literacy/Female

36. Countries Compared by Education > Literacy > Male [Internet]. NationMaster. [cited 2023 Feb 8]. Available from: https://www.nationmaster.com/country-info/stats/Education/Literacy/Male

37. UNESCO Institute for Statistics. School enrollment, primary (% net) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.PRM.NENR

38. United Nations Population Division. Life expectancy at birth, total (years) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN

39. United Nations Population Division. Life expectancy at birth, male (years) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.MA.IN

40. United Nations Population Division. Life expectancy at birth, female (years) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.FE.IN

41. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2018 [Internet]. World Health Organization. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241514620

42. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Probability of dying between age 30 and exact age 70 from any of cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory disease [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2018 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/probability-(-)-of-dying-between-age-30-and-exact-age-70-from-any-of-cardiovascular-disease-cancer-diabetes-or-chronic-respiratory-disease

43. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 0-14, male [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.MA.IN

44. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 0-14, female [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.FE.IN

45. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 0-14, total [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.TO

46. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 0-14 (% of total population) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.TO.ZS

47. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 15-64, male [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.1564.MA.IN

48. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 15-64, female [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.1564.FE.IN

49. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 15-64, total [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.1564.TO

50. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 15-64 (% of total population) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.1564.TO.ZS



51. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 65 and above, male [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.MA.IN

52. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 65 and above, female [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.FE.IN

53. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 65 and above, total [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO

54. United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects. Population ages 65 and above (% of total population) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS

55. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Age-standardized estimates of current tobacco use, tobacco smoking and cigarette smoking - Data by country [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.TOBAGESTDCURRv

56. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Raised blood pressure (SBP ≥ 140 OR DBP ≥ 90), crude (%) - Estimates by country [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.2464EST

57. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Raised fasting blood glucose (≥ 7.0 mmol/L or on medication) (crude estimate) - Estimates by country [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.2469

58. Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Prevalence of obesity among adults, BMI ≥ 30, crude - Estimates by country [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.BMI30Cv

59. UNAIDS. Prevalence of HIV, total (% of population ages 15-49) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 8]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.DYN.AIDS.ZS

60. The Global Health Observatory. BCG immunization coverage among 1-year-olds (%) [Internet]. World Health Organization. [cited 2023 Feb 8]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/bcg-immunization-coverage-among-1-year-olds-(-)

61. Food and Agriculture Organization. Prevalence of undernourishment (% of population) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SN.ITK.DEFC.ZS

62. Sawe BE. What Type Of Government Does Germany Have? [Internet]. World Atlas. 2017. Available from: https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/what-type-of-government-does-germanyhave.html

63. Political system [Internet]. Facts about Germany. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.tatsachen-ueber-deutschland.de/en/politics-germany/political-system



64. Willenbring R. "Powerless" office [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2012. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/the-role-of-the-german-president/a-3880008

65. The Federal Chancellor. The election of the Federal Chancellor [Internet]. The Federal Chancellor of the Federal Republic of Germany. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from:

https://www.bundeskanzler.de/bk-en/chancellery/the-election-of-the-federal-chancellor 66. Hamann G. Angela forever: Is that still democracy? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2016 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/angela-forever-is-that-stilldemocracy/a-36460145

67. The Economist. Germany Elections 2021 [Internet]. The Economist. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.economist.com/assets/infographic/2021/germany-results-2021/overall.html

68. DW. Germany: Governing coalition deal unveiled [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germanys-spd-fdp-and-greens-unveil-governing-coalition-deal/a-59915201

69. The Federal Chancellor. Federal Chancellors since 1949 [Internet]. The Federal Chancellor of the Federal Republic of Germany; Available from:

https://www.bundeskanzler.de/resource/blob/1832978/1850152/c799bae0477def4e76858590 e98e5268/kanzler-pdf-data.pdf?download=1

70. DW. Social Democrat Party (SPD) [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/social-democrat-party-spd/t-17437818

71. Conradt DP. Christian Democratic Union | History, Policies, Platform, Leader, & Structure [Internet]. Encylopedia Britannica. 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.britannica.com/topic/Christian-Democratic-Union-political-party-Germany

72. Federal Ministry of Justice. Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany [Internet]. Federal Ministry of Justice. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.gesetze-iminternet.de/englisch_gg/englisch_gg.html

73. GIZ. Decentralisation [Internet]. The Governance Fund. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.reformgestaltung.de/en/topics/decentralisation

74. Blümel M, Busse R. Germany: International Health Care System Profiles [Internet]. The Commonwealth Fund. 2020 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from:

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-center/countries/germany

75. Federal Ministry of Health. The Federal Ministry of Health [Internet]. The Federal Ministry of Health. 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from:

https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/en/ministry/the-federal-ministry-of-health.html

76. Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices. BfArM - About us [Internet]. Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.bfarm.de/EN/BfArM/ node.html

77. Dietrich M. BZgA: Welcome [Internet]. Federal Centre for Health Education. [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.bzga.de/home/bzga/



78. Plümer KD. Organization and financing of public health services in Europe: Country reports [Internet]. Organization and financing of public health services in Europe: Country reports [Internet]. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2018 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK507327/

79. RKI. RKI - The Institute [Internet]. Robert Koch Institute. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://www.rki.de/EN/Content/Institute/institute_node.html;jsessionid=B3DC63854BA149E18 92DECAB56EF7285.internet061

80. Fragile State Index. Global Data [Internet]. The Fund for Peace. 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://public.tableau.com/views/fsi-2022-

rankings/DashboardRankings?:embed=y&:showVizHome=no&:host_url=https%3A%2F%2Fpubli c.tableau.com%2F&:embed_code_version=3&:tabs=no&:toolbar=no&:animate_transition=yes &:display_static_image=no&:display_spinner=no&:display_overlay=yes&:display_count=yes&:l anguage=en-US&:loadOrderID=0

81. Countries and Territories - Global Freedom Scores [Internet]. Freedom House. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://freedomhouse.org/countries/freedom-world/scores

82. Countries-Internet Freedom Scores [Internet]. Freedom House. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://freedomhouse.org/countries/freedom-net/scores

83. 2020 World Press Freedom Index Ranking [Internet]. Reporters without Borders. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://rsf.org/en/index

84. WHO Global Health Workforce Statistics. Physicians (per 1,000 people) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.MED.PHYS.ZS

85. World Health Organization. Hospital beds (per 1,000 people) [Internet]. The World Bank. [cited 2023 Feb 2]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.MED.BEDS.ZS

86. WTOP. HIV/AIDS: The U.S. vs. Germany [Internet]. WTOP News. 2012 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://wtop.com/news/2012/01/hivaids-the-us-vs-germany/

87. UNAIDS. Germany—ending AIDS by 2020 [Internet]. UNAIDS. [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2017/may/20170512_germa ny

88. Reuters. Germany reports first case of swine flu [Internet]. Reuters. 2009 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/article/idUSLT843019

89. Samanlioglu F, Bilge AH. An Overview of the 2009 A(H1N1) Pandemic in Europe: Efficiency of the Vaccination and Healthcare Strategies. J Healthc Eng [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2023 Mar 1];2016:5965836. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5058565/

90. Altmann M, Fiebig L, Soyka J, von Kries R, Dehnert M, Haas W. Severe Cases of Pandemic (H1N1) 2009 in Children, Germany. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2011 Feb [cited 2023 Mar 1];17(2):186–92. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3204773/



91. RKI. Influenza and Influenza Pandemic Preparedness in Germany [Internet]. Robert Koch Institute. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://www.rki.de/EN/Content/infections/epidemiology/inf_dis_Germany/influenza/influenza _germany/Report_Influenza.html

92. WHO Emergency Response Team. Summary of probable SARS cases with onset of illness from 1 November 2002 to 31 July 2003 [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2015 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/summary-of-probable-sars-cases-with-onset-of-illness-from-1-november-2002-to-31-july-2003

93. World Health Organization. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) and the risk to Europe [Internet]. World Health Organization. [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/europe/emergencies/situations/mers-cov

94. The Federal Government of Germany. German assistance in the fight against Ebola [Internet]. Website of the Federal Government | Bundesregierung. 2014 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/service/archive/archive/german-assistance-in-the-fight-against-ebola-419532

95. DW. Ebola patient lands in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2014 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/third-ebola-patient-arrives-in-germany-from-africa/a-17983734

96. Miller J, Gross A. Germany's 'bottom-up' testing keeps coronavirus at bay. Financial Times. 2020.

97. Weiss K. Decentralised, competitive and local: how Germany's health system is tackling the virus [Internet]. CapX. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://capx.co/decentralised-competitive-and-local-how-germanys-health-system-is-tackling-the-virus/

98. ALM. ALM - Akkreditierte Labore in der Medizin e.V. - Wir versorgen Deutschland. Mit Labor. [Internet]. Akkreditierte Labore in der Medizin e.V. [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from: https://www.alm-ev.de/

99. Poitiers N, Brekelmans S. EU trade in medical goods: why self-sufficiency is the wrong approach [Internet]. Bruegel.org. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://www.bruegel.org/blog-post/eu-trade-medical-goods-why-self-sufficiency-wrong-approach

100. Glencross A. The EU to the rescEU? Assessing the geopolitics of the EU's medical stockpile. Eur View [Internet]. 2022 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Mar 1];21(1):48–55. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/17816858221088368

101. Levine K. Protective gear market could explode: "It's the Wild West" [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:

https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-to-centralize-supply-chains-set-prices-on-masks-protective-gear/a-52952314

102. BMWK-Federal Ministry for Economics Affairs and Climate. Minister Altmaier: "We will boost the production capacity for nonwovens made in Germany" [Internet]. Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 1]. Available from:



https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/EN/Pressemitteilungen/2020/20200605-altmaier-we-will-boost-the-production-capacity-for-nonwovens-made-in-germany.html

103. Thurau J. Chronology: How COVID has spread in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-how-germany-battlesthe-pandemic-a-chronology/a-58026877

104. Goldenberg R. Germany set to end COVID state of emergency [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-set-to-end-national-state-of-emergency/a-59637132

105. Our World in Data. COVID-19 Dataset by Our World in Data [Internet]. Our World in Data. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from: https://github.com/owid/covid-19-data

106. Reuters. Germany to start first COVID-19 vaccination in elderly homes on December 27 [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-eu-vaccine-germany-idUSKBN28V1UM

107. AFP/The Local. Coronavirus outbreak in Germany is "under control", says Health Minister [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from: https://www.thelocal.de/20200417/coronavirus-epidemic-in-germany-is-under-controlminister

108. More R. German health minister expects renewed coronavirus wave in autumn [Internet]. Reuters. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/german-health-minister-expects-renewed-coronavirus-wave-autumn-2022-08-24/

109. Merkel A. An address to the nation by Federal Chancellor Merkel [Internet]. Die Bundesregierung informiert | Startseite. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/themen/coronavirus/statement-chancellor-1732296 110. Connolly K. Olaf Scholz condemns Covid 'truth denial' in inaugural speech [Internet]. The Guardian. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/dec/15/olaf-scholz-condemns-covid-truth-denial-inaugural-speech

111. Spinney L. Germany's Covid-19 expert: "For many, I'm the evil guy crippling the economy" [Internet]. The Guardian. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/26/virologist-christian-drosten-germany-coronavirus-expert-interview

112. Reintjes R. Lessons in contact tracing from Germany. BMJ [Internet]. 2020 Jun 25 [cited 2023 Mar 7];369:m2522. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m2522

113. Lu G, Razum O, Jahn A, Zhang Y, Sutton B, Sridhar D, et al. COVID-19 in Germany and China: mitigation versus elimination strategy. Glob Health Action [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Mar 7];14(1):1875601. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2021.1875601 114. Gonzalez JC. Coronavirus in Europe: "So far, containment is working" [Internet].

Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 7]. Available from:

https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-containment-in-europe-working-so-far-says-germanys-spahn/a-52368885



115. Kuebler M. Coronavirus begins to shut down public life in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-begins-shutting-down-public-life-across-germany/a-52743358

116. Connor R. German states move closer to full lockdowns [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/german-states-move-closer-to-near-total-lockdowns/a-52863482

117. Mischke J. German state of Bavaria heads for full coronavirus lockdown [Internet]. POLITICO. 2020 [cited 2023 Apr 10]. Available from: https://www.politico.eu/article/germanstate-of-bavaria-heads-for-full-coronavirus-lockdown/

118. DW. Germany: School-leaving exams will go ahead [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-school-leaving-exams-will-go-ahead-despite-coronavirus/a-52917576

119. German Rectors' Conference. The COVID-19 pandemic and the German universities [Internet]. German Rectors' Conference. [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.hrk.de/activities/the-covid-19-pandemic-and-the-german-universities/ 120. Carter A. Coronavirus: Almost all schools in Germany to close next week [Internet]. IamExpat. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expatinfo/german-expat-news/coronavirus-all-schools-close-four-federal-states

121. Neuberger F, Grgic M, Diefenbacher S, Spensberger F, Lehfeld AS, Buchholz U, et al. COVID-19 infections in day care centres in Germany: social and organisational determinants of infections in children and staff in the second and third wave of the pandemic. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2022 Jan 14 [cited 2023 Mar 9];22(1):98. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12470-5

122. DW. What are Germany's new coronavirus social distancing rules? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/what-are-germanys-new-coronavirus-social-distancing-rules/a-52881742

123. Government of Saxony. Staatsregierung beschließt Ausgangsbeschränkungen im Freistaat [Internet]. Sachsen.de. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://medienservice.sachsen.de/medien/news/235290

124. Szymanowski G. German care homes isolate the elderly from COVID-19 threat [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.dw.com/en/german-retirement-homes-isolate-the-elderly-from-covid-19-threat/a-53082145

125. Matthews S. Germany is using drive-thru centres to swab patients for coronavirus [Internet]. Daily Mail. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.dailymail.co.uk/health/article-8091401/Germany-using-drive-centres-swab-patients-coronavirus.html

126. Synlab International. Germany: SYNLAB establishes SARS-CoV-2 "drive-in" testing facility [Internet]. SYNLAB. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.synlab.com/human/news/news-article/germany-synlab-establishes-sars-cov-2-drive-in-testing-facility-41



127. Takken R. Satellite imagery of COVID-19 testing facilities in Munich, Germany [Internet]. Geospatial World. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.geospatialworld.net/blogs/satellite-imagery-of-covid-19-testing-facilities-munichgermany/

128. Busse P. Breaking Quarantine: Criminal Offence in Germany? COVID-19 [Internet]. Schlun & Elseven. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://se-legal.de/breaking-quarantine-criminal-offence-in-germany-covid-19-coronavirus/?lang=en

129. Schmitz R. How Germany Staffed Up Contact Tracing Teams To Contain Its Coronavirus Outbreak [Internet]. NPR. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2020/06/22/880803278/how-germany-staffed-up-contact-tracing-teams-to-contain-its-coronavirus-outbreak

130. BBC. Coronavirus: Germany latest country to close borders [Internet]. BBC News. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-51905129

131. DW. Germany partially shuts borders over coronavirus spread [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-partially-shuts-borders-with-5-countries/a-52789280

132. Stevis-Gridneff M, Pérez-Peña R. Europe Barricades Borders to Slow Coronavirus [Internet]. The New York Times. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/17/world/europe/EU-closes-borders-virus.html 133. Thiessen T. Covid-19 Airport Testing: US To Europe, Here's What To Expect [Internet]. Forbes. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.forbes.com/sites/tamarathiessen/2020/07/27/covid-19-airport-testing-useurope-what-to-expect/

134. Douglas E. How coronavirus affects German airports [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-how-are-germanys-biggest-airports-coping/a-52798257

135. DW. What are Germany's new COVID-19 travel restrictions? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germanys-coronavirustravel-restrictions-what-you-need-to-know/a-53029830

136. Reuters. Germany bans export of medical protection gear due to coronavirus [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/article/healthcoronavirus-germany-exports-idUSL8N2AX3D9

137. Guarascio F, Blenkinsop P. EU fails to persuade France, Germany to lift coronavirus health gear controls [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-eu-idUSKBN20T166

138. Chambers M. German city introduces face masks for shoppers as coronavirus spreads [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-germany-masks-idUSKBN21I10K

139. Ministry of Health Germany. Chronik zum Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 [Internet].

Bundesministerium fur Gesundheit. [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/coronavirus/chronik-coronavirus.html



140. Ärzteblatt DÄG Redaktion Deutsches. Coronakrise: Krankenhäuser fordern Aussetzung des DRG-Systems bis zum... [Internet]. Deutsches Ärzteblatt. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/nachrichten/111193/Coronakrise-Krankenhaeuser-fordern-Aussetzung-des-DRG-Systems-bis-zum-Jahresende

141. KZBV. Pressemitteilung vom 20.3.2020 [Internet]. Kassenzahnarztliche Bundesvereinigung. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.kzbv.de/pressemitteilung-vom-20-3-2020.1378.de.html#

142. Wolf TG, Barth A, Hüttmann J, Lennartz M, Otterbach EJ, Brendel C, et al. Economic Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Dental Practices in Germany: A Cross-Sectional Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2022 May 28 [cited 2023 Mar 9];19(11):6593. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9180081/

143. Wolf TG, Deschner J, Schrader H, Bührens P, Kaps-Richter G, Cagetti MG, et al. Dental Workload Reduction during First SARS-CoV-2/COVID-19 Lockdown in Germany: A Cross-Sectional Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2021 Mar 19 [cited 2023 Mar 9];18(6):3164. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8003293/
144. e.V. (BZÄK) BA der DZ. Dank hoher Hygienestandards: Zahnarztbesuche in Deutschland sind sicher! [Internet]. Bundeszahnärztekammer - Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Deutschen Zahnärztekammern e.V. (BZÄK). 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.bzaek.de/presse/presseinformationen/presseinformation/dank-hoherhygienestandards-zahnarztbesuche-in-deutschland-sind-sicher.html

145. Life Sciences Market Research. Germany Surgical Procedure Volumes (SPV) Database [Internet]. Life Sciences Market Research. [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://calendly.com/kellywilliams-lsi

146. Assadian O, Golling M, Krüger CM, Leaper D, Mutters NT, Roth B, et al. Surgical site infections: guidance for elective surgery during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic – international recommendations and clinical experience. J Hosp Infect [Internet]. 2021 May [cited 2023 Mar 9];111:189–99. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7883712/

147. BBC. Coronavirus: Germany slowly eases lockdown measures [Internet]. BBC News.
2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-52299358
148. Schumacher E. Merkel cautiously optimistic, announces lockdown rollback [Internet].
Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/merkel-cautiously-optimistic-as-she-announces-lockdown-rollback/a-53346427

149. Cabinet of Germany. Telefonschaltkonferenz der Bundeskanzlerin mit den Regierungschefinnen und Regierungschefs der Länder am 30. April 2020 [Internet]. Die Bundesregierung informiert. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:

https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/service/archiv/telefonschaltkonferenz-derbundeskanzlerin-mit-den-regierungschefinnen-und-regierungschefs-der-laender-am-30-april-2020-1749798

150. Bennhold K, Eddy M. Germany's Reopening Offers Hope for a Semblance of Normal Life [Internet]. The New York Times. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from:



https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/06/world/europe/germany-merkel-coronavirus-reopening.html

151. BBC. Coronavirus: Germany's states make face masks compulsory [Internet]. BBC News. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-52382196

152. Staudenmaier R. What are Germany's new face mask regulations? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germanys-new-face-mask-regulations-explained/a-53260732

153. BBC. Coronavirus: Germany reopens shops as lockdown is relaxed [Internet]. BBC News. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-52557718

154. DW. Coronavirus latest: Germany to relax quarantine restrictions [Internet]. dw.com. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-latest-germany-to-relax-quarantine-restrictions-on-eu-travelers/a-53444487

155. AFP, dpa. Tourismus: Bundesregierung hebt Reisewarnung ab 15. Juni auf [Internet]. Die Zeit. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.zeit.de/politik/deutschland/2020-06/reisewarnung-fuer-eu-staaten-wird-ab-15-juni-aufgehoben

156. Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community. Gradual phasing out of restrictions on travel from third countries [Internet]. Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from:

https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2020/07/aufhebung-einreisebeschraenkung-

en.html;jsessionid=B12421B278C45166BC65C211155CE34C.2_cid350?nn=9384552

157. DW. Germany to ramp up checks on returning travelers [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-toramp-up-quarantine-checks-on-travelers-returning-from-high-risk-areas/a-54702157

158. DW. Coronavirus digest: Germany warns against "party holidays" [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-germany-warns-against-party-holidays-after-spain-travel-warning/a-54576977

159. RTL News. Merkel appelliert eindringlich: "Wir sind noch nicht übern Berg!" [Internet]. RTL Online. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.rtl.de/cms/merkelappelliert-eindringlich-wir-sind-noch-nicht-uebern-berg-4526788.html

160. Our World in Data. COVID-19 testing policies, May 8, 2020 [Internet]. Our World in Data. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/covid-19-testing-policy

161. DW. Germany launches "best" coronavirus tracing app [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-launches-best-coronavirus-tracing-app/a-53825213

162. DW. Germany's virus app criticized over warning failures [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germanys-coronavirustracing-app-criticized-over-warning-failures/a-54305099



163. The Strait Times. Rebel German state Thuringia abandons social distancing as coronavirus ticks up [Internet]. The Straits Times. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.straitstimes.com/world/europe/rebel-german-state-thuringia-abandons-social-distancing-as-coronavirus-ticks-up

164. Sparrow T. Germany imposes tougher measures to curb coronavirus [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-coronavirus-measures-masks/a-54714744

165. Chazan G. Germany's secret weapon in fight against virus misfires. Financial Times.2020.

166. McKeever V. Why Germany's coronavirus strategy doesn't appear to be working this time around [Internet]. CNBC. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from:

https://www.cnbc.com/2020/11/06/why-germanys-coronavirus-strategy-doesnt-appear-to-be-working.html

167. Walsh A. Germany to impose one-month partial lockdown [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-to-imposeone-month-partial-lockdown/a-55421241

168. sh.januzi. All Travellers to Germany Are Now Obliged to Register Digitally Before Entry [Internet]. SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from:

https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/all-travellers-to-germany-are-now-obliged-to-register-digitally-before-entry/

169. BBC. Covid-19: Germany introduces new restrictions amid rise in cases [Internet]. BBC News. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-55324422

170. DW. Germany extends pandemic shutdown into March [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-extendslockdown-until-march/a-56520479

171. Beck L, Morris L. Germany lets the vaccinated have a bit more fun. Teens shut out from the jabs are not happy. [Internet]. Washington Post. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/germany-coronavirus-vaccine-

rules/2021/05/06/b6a17716-adbb-11eb-82c1-896aca955bb9_story.html

BBC. Coronavirus: Germany to go into lockdown over Christmas [Internet]. BBC News.
[cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe55292614

173. DW. Merkel: "Lockdown light" to stretch into January [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/merkel-germanys-lockdownlight-to-stretch-into-january/a-55803597

174. Stelzenmüller C. Germany pulls out the 'bazooka' against the coronavirus — But is it doing enough? [Internet]. Brookings. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 13]. Available from:

https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2020/03/17/germany-pulls-out-the-bazooka-against-the-coronavirus-but-is-it-doing-enough/



175. Germany bans flights from UK over COVID "mutation" [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-germanybans-flights-from-uk-over-covid-mutation/a-55999636

176. Wolfsteller P. Germany shuts border to travellers from Ireland and Portugal [Internet]. Flight Global. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.flightglobal.com/networks/germany-shuts-border-to-travellers-from-ireland-and-portugal/142208.article

177. Lardieri A. Germany Implements Coronavirus Testing Requirements for Travelers [Internet]. US News & World Report. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

//www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-01-13/germany-implements-coronavirus-testing-requirements-for-travelers

178. Moulson G, Grieshaber K. Germany extends lockdown until Jan 31 and toughens curbs [Internet]. AP NEWS. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://apnews.com/article/germany-coronavirus-lockdown-extended-

2db8eec7d36fbfc562a3b07811c8a3f4

179. Beer T. Germany Mandates Medical-Grade Masks [Internet]. Forbes. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/tommybeer/2021/01/20/germany-mandates-medical-grade-masks/

180. Xinhua. Schools and daycare centers in Germany reopen with COVID-19 prevention measures [Internet]. Xinhuanet. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2021-02/23/c_139759906.htm

181. Berry A. Schools reopen for younger children in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-schools-reopenfor-younger-children-amid-rising-covid-infections/a-56648597

182. France 24. Covid-19: Germany partly closes borders with Czech Republic, Austria despite EU rebuke [Internet]. France 24. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20210214-covid-19-germany-partly-closes-borders-with-czech-republic-austria-despite-eu-rebuke

183. Reuters. Germany issues COVID travel warning for France, Austria, Czech Republic, Denmark [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/germany-issues-covid-travel-warning-france-austria-czech-republic-denmark-2021-03-26/

184. DW. Germany: COVID tests now required for all flights [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-covid-test-now-required-for-all-flight-arrivals/a-57046493

185. Scholz KA. How are German schools preparing for fall? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-how-are-german-schools-preparing-for-fall/a-58050851

186. Peeples L. What the science says about lifting mask mandates. Nature [Internet]. 2021 May 25 [cited 2023 Mar 14];593(7860):495–8. Available from:

https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-021-01394-0

187. DW. App simplifies contact tracing [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar
14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-luca-app-makes-contact-tracing-easier/video-57075840

188. Lange C. German Employers' Mandatory COVID-19 Testing and Telecommuting Requirements [Internet]. Ogletree Deakins. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://ogletree.com/insights/german-employers-mandatory-covid-19-testing-andtelecommuting-requirements/

189. Ledsom A. The Promise Of International Travel: April EU Travel Restrictions, Covid-19 Test Requirements, Quarantine By Country [Internet]. Forbes. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/alexledsom/2021/04/15/the-promise-ofinternational-travel-april-eu-travel-restrictions-covid-19-test-requirements-quarantine-bycountry/

190. Thiruvengadam M. Germany Will Allow Vaccinated Travelers to Skip Quarantine and Testing [Internet]. Travel + Leisure. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.travelandleisure.com/travel-news/germany-eases-travel-restrictions-for-vaccinated-travelers

191. Rennies Travel Namibia. New regulations entering Germany 13 May 2021 [Internet]. Rennies Travel Namibia. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.renniestravelnamibia.com/news/new-regulations-for-travelers-/

192. Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community. Federal Government eases entry restrictions for vaccinated travellers [Internet]. Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community.2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2021/06/restrictions-for-vaccinated-

travellers.html;jsessionid=7709BF0EB8758A5E1B5766E9128B3BA4.2_cid295?nn=9384552 193. City of Hamburg. Access Plans: 3G, 2G and 2G+ [Internet]. hamburg.com. [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.hamburg.com/residents/settle/health/15811494/covidaccess-plans/

194. The Federal Government of Germany. Obligation to work from home to be lifted from 1 July [Internet]. Website of the Federal Government | Bundesregierung. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/service/archive/covid-health-safety-regulation-1936424

195. Thurau J. New COVID rules in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/new-covid-rules-in-germany/a-58970674 196. BfR. 3G rule: Three out of four support the new regulations [Internet]. German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.bfr.bund.de/en/press_information/2021/37/3g_rule__three_out_of_four_suppor t_the_new_regulations-282421.html

197. Fox K. Explained: What are Covid restrictions like across Europe? [Internet]. BreakingNews.ie. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:



https://www.breakingnews.ie/explained/explained-what-are-covid-restrictions-like-across-europe-1199846.html

198. The Local. Three German states relax Covid mask rules in schools [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.thelocal.de/20210930/three-german-states-relax-covid-mask-rules-in-schools

199. DW. COVID restrictions lifted in several German states – DW – 10/01/2021 [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-coronavirus-restrictions-lifted-in-several-states/a-59374120

200. Scholz KA. How is the fourth wave affecting German schools? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-and-kids-how-is-the-fourth-wave-affecting-german-schools/a-59883517

201. SchengenVisa. Germany to Impose Mandatory COVID-19 Testing Rules for Unvaccinated Returning Travellers [Internet]. SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/germany-to-impose-mandatory-covid-19-testing-rules-for-unvaccinated-returning-travellers/

202. Hallam M. German homes for the elderly avoid lockdown [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-homes-forthe-elderly-find-ways-to-avoid-lockdown/a-55331783

203. SchengenVisa. Lufthansa, Air France & Finnair Ban Fabric Face Masks on Their Flights [Internet]. SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/lufthansa-air-france-finnair-ban-fabric-face-maskson-their-flights/

204. The Local. Where and when can I buy a home Covid-19 test kit in Germany? [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20210309/home-test-kits-germany-covid-19-630246

205. Rich G. My family went to Germany five days after travel restrictions were lifted. Here's what we learned. [Internet]. Washington Post. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 14]. Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/travel/germany-travel-coronavirus-restrictions-summer-2021/2021/07/29/1a28c082-ebec-11eb-97a0-a09d10181e36_story.html

206. Chen J, Wang R, Gilby NB, Wei GW. Omicron (B.1.1.529): Infectivity, vaccine breakthrough, and antibody resistance. ArXiv [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Mar 16];arXiv:2112.01318v1. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8647651/

207. DW. Germany confirms first cases of omicron variant [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-confirms-first-2-cases-of-omicron-variant/a-59958183

208. Petrikowski NP. Angela Merkel | Biography, Education, Political Career, Successor, & Facts [Internet]. Encylopedia Britannica. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.britannica.com/biography/Angela-Merkel



209. DW. Germany: Center-left coalition talks officially begin [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-center-leftcoalition-talks-officially-begin/a-59575092

210. DW. Coronavirus digest: Germany reintroduces free COVID tests [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-germany-reintroduces-free-tests-amid-soaring-cases/a-59808679

211. DW. Several German states halt COVID contact tracing [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-covid-contact-tracing-halted-in-several-states/a-60249871

212. DW. COVID: Germany faces "national emergency" [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-faces-national-emergency/a-59873728

213. The Local. 2G and 2G plus: Germany to tighten restrictions on unvaccinated [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20211118/2g-and-2g-plus-germany-agrees-to-tighten-restrictions-on-unvaccinated

214. Douglas E, Goldenberg R. COVID: Germany introduces new measures [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-introduces-new-measures-to-curb-the-pandemic/a-59852951

215. Brin DW. Germany Imposes New Workplace Restrictions as Coronavirus Surges [Internet]. SHRM. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr-topics/global-hr/pages/coronavirus-germany-new-workplace-restrictions.aspx

216. Schmidt N, Pleitgen F. Germany locks down unvaccinated people, as leaders plan to make shots compulsory [Internet]. CNN. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.cnn.com/2021/12/02/europe/germany-lockdown-covid-restrictions-intl/index.html

217. Carter A. Corona summit: Germany to tighten contact restrictions after Christmas [Internet]. IamExpat. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.iamexpat.de/expat-info/german-expat-news/corona-summit-germany-tighten-contact-restrictions-christmas

218. DW. Germany's new COVID measures come into force [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-newrestrictions-come-into-force-in-germany/a-60272251

219. Marcus L, Neild B. Travel restrictions by country following the Omicron variant outbreak [Internet]. CNN. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.cnn.com/travel/article/coronavirus-omicron-variant-travel-restrictions/index.html 220. SchengenVisa. Germany Bans Flights From South Africa, Again [Internet].

SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/germany-bans-flights-from-south-africa-again/



221. Wright R. Germany travel rules: UK tourists are banned under new restrictions [Internet]. euronews. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.euronews.com/travel/2021/12/19/germany-tightens-restrictions-on-travel-from-uk

222. Cater L. Germany introduces 2-week quarantine for travelers from UK [Internet]. Politico. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.politico.eu/article/germanyintroduces-two-week-quarantine-for-travellers-from-uk/

223. Reuters. Germany to drop quarantine, negative COVID-19 demand for UK arrivals [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-drop-quarantine-negative-covid-19-demand-uk-arrivals-2021-12-30/

224. VisaMetric. Modified obligation to provide COVID proof upon entry into Germany from 23 December 2021, 0.00h CET (12 a.m.) [Internet]. VisaMetric. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.visametric.com/Tajikistan/Germany/en/news/news_details/modified-obligationto-provide-covid-proof-upon-entry-into-germany-from-23-december-2021-000h-cet-12am/105

225. Lorenzo-Redondo R, Ozer EA, Hultquist JF. Covid-19: is omicron less lethal than delta? BMJ [Internet]. 2022 Aug 2 [cited 2023 Mar 16];378:o1806. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/378/bmj.o1806

226. Moulson G. Germany to toughen restaurant rules, cut COVID quarantine [Internet]. AP NEWS. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://apnews.com/article/coronavirus-pandemic-health-europe-germany-olaf-scholz-8205a0009c1c817b56ba41e4f5aa8464

227. Shield C. Omicron: PCR tests rationed in Germany [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/omicron-germany-radically-limits-pcr-testing-whats-the-alternative/a-60549692

228. DW. Germany looks to loosen stricter COVID measures [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-looks-to-loosen-stricter-covid-19-measures/a-60769896

229. Alkousaa R. Germany eases COVID curbs, will lift more rules in spring [Internet]. Reuters. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/germany-set-ease-covid-curbs-infection-wave-flattens-2022-02-16/

230. deutschland.de. Latest coronavirus updates [Internet]. deutschland.de. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.deutschland.de/en/news/coronavirus-in-germany-information

231. DW. Germany lifts most COVID-19 restrictions [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 15]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-lifts-most-covid-19-restrictions-after-difficult-compromise/a-61174654

232. Your Europe. Travel documents for EU nationals [Internet]. Your Europe. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://europa.eu/youreurope/citizens/travel/travel-and-covid/germany/index_en.htm



233. Scheuer S. Germany: Overview of the changes of COVID-19 measures at the workplace from 20 March 2022 [Internet]. Baker McKenzie. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://insightplus.bakermckenzie.com/bm/employment-compensation/germany-overview-of-the-changes-of-covid-19-measures-at-the-workplace-from-march-20-2022

234. SchengenVisa. Official: New Rules for Travel to Germany to Be Applied From March 3 [Internet]. SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/official-new-rules-for-travel-to-germany-to-be-applied-from-march-3/

235. Carter A. 3G travel entry rule extended until end of May in Germany [Internet]. IamExpat. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expatinfo/german-expat-news/3g-travel-entry-rule-extended-until-end-may-germany

236. SchengenVisa. Germany to Lift Several Travel Restrictions From June 1 [Internet]. SchengenVisaInfo.com. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/germany-to-lift-several-travel-restrictions-from-june-1/

237. German Federal Foreign Office. Traveling and the COVID-19 pandemic – entry restrictions mostly lifted [Internet]. German Federal Foreign Office. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/en/coronavirus/2317268

238. DW. COVID: Germany drops mask requirement at shops [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-germany-dropsmask-requirement-at-shops/a-61356022

239. The Local. EXPLAINED: Germany's current Covid mask rules - The Local [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20220525/explained-germanys-current-covid-mask-rules 240. Carter A. What's changing with Germany's COVID rules from April 2? [Internet]. IamExpat. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expatinfo/german-expat-news/whats-changing-germanys-covid-rules-april-2

241. Carter A. German states agree to reduce COVID quarantine to 5 days [Internet]. IamExpat. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expatinfo/german-expat-news/german-states-agree-reduce-covid-quarantine-5-days

242. Ministry of Health Germany. When to quarantine or self-isolate [Internet]. Zusammen gegen Corona. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.zusammengegencorona.de/en/when-do-i-have-to-quarantine-or-self-isolate/ 243. Upton B. Germany's strict return to classrooms risks 'missed opportunity' [Internet]. Times Higher Education (THE). 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/germanys-strict-return-classrooms-risks-missedopportunity

244. Ross J. University leaders more wedded to lectures than before Covid [Internet]. Times Higher Education (THE). 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/university-leaders-more-wedded-lectures-covid



245. Sheahan M. Germany's Scholz sees no COVID-related school closures, lockdowns [Internet]. Reuters. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/business/media-telecom/germanys-scholz-sees-no-covid-related-school-closures-lockdowns-2022-07-03/

246. Government Of Canada. Janssen Jcovden (Johnson & Johnson) COVID-19 vaccine [Internet]. Government Of Canada. 2021 [cited 2023 Apr 10]. Available from:

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/covid19-industry/drugs-vaccines-treatments/vaccines/janssen.html

247. The Local. GPs in Germany call for vaccines to be given according to health not age [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20210403/gps-in-germany-call-for-vaccines-to-be-given-according-to-health-not-age

248. Scholz KA. How Germany's preparing a COVID-19 vaccination drive [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-how-germany-is-preparing-for-a-vaccination-drive/a-55741314

249. Ellyatt H. Germany's vaccine rollout is not going to plan, frustrating officials and experts [Internet]. CNBC. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.cnbc.com/2021/01/19/germanys-vaccine-rollout-challenges-and-problems-in-vaccine-strategy.html

250. Oltermann P. German Covid vaccine officials forced to guess people's ages from names [Internet]. The Guardian. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/jan/15/german-covvaccine-officials-play-name-game-to-comply-with-data-privacy-laws

251. DW. Germany begins rollout of Moderna vaccine [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-rolls-out-moderna-vaccine/a-56205028

252. Otto C, Smith-Spark L. German officials say AstraZeneca vaccine shouldn't be given to over-65s, citing lack of data [Internet]. CNN. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.cnn.com/2021/01/28/europe/germany-astrazeneca-vaccine-coronavirus-grm-intl/index.html

253. Smith A. Germany has more than 1 million Covid-19 vaccines unused in storage [Internet]. NBC News. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.nbcnews.com/news/world/germany-has-more-1-million-covid-19-vaccines-unused-storage-n1258855

254. Ellyatt H. Germany suspends use of AstraZeneca's Covid shot for the under-60s, dealing another blow to drugmaker [Internet]. CNBC. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.cnbc.com/2021/03/31/germany-suspends-use-of-astrazenecas-covid-shot-for-the-under-60s.html

255. France 24. Germany to give different second vaccine to AstraZeneca recipients under 60 [Internet]. France 24. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:



https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20210414-germany-to-give-different-second-vaccine-to-astrazeneca-recipients-under-60

256. DW. Germany opens up AstraZeneca vaccines for all adults [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germanyopens-up-astrazeneca-covid-vaccines-for-all-adults/a-57453351

257. Oltermann P. Germany to approve Johnson & Johnson Covid vaccine for adults of all ages [Internet]. The Guardian. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/may/10/germany-to-approve-johnson-johnson-covid-vaccine-for-adults-of-all-ages

258. Kennedy N, Pleitgen F, Gumbrecht J. Germany issues world's strongest recommendation for mixing Covid-19 vaccines [Internet]. CNN. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.cnn.com/2021/07/02/health/germany-covid-vaccines-mixing-intl/index.html 259. Alkousaa R. Germany recommends only Biontech/Pfizer vaccine for under-30s

[Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-recommends-only-biontechpfizer-vaccine-people-under-30-2021-11-10/

260. Paul-Ehrlich-Institut. Nuvaxovid (Novavax) – Protein-based COVID-19 Vaccine Available on a Limited Basis in Germany [Internet]. Federal Institute for Vaccines and Biomedicines. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.pei.de/EN/newsroom/hp-

news/2022/220222-nuvaxovid-novavax-protein-based-covid-19-vaccine-available-germany.html

261. Noack R. Jump the vaccine line? In Germany, you could face prosecution. [Internet]. Washington Post. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/covid-vaccine-line-jumping-

germany/2021/04/14/3827db70-9bc6-11eb-b2f5-7d2f0182750d_story.html

262. Nienaber M. Germany to offer free COVID-19 shots for all adults from June 7 [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/germany-offer-free-covid-19-shots-all-adults-june-7-2021-05-17/

263. Rinke A, Skydsgaard N. Germany mulls delaying second COVID-19 vaccine shot, Denmark approves delay [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-health-coronavirus-vaccines-germany-idUKKBN2991Q3

264. Schmidt N, Dean S. Germany will extend interval between vaccine doses "to its maximum" [Internet]. CNN. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.cnn.com/world/live-news/coronavirus-pandemic-vaccine-updates-03-04-21/h_430e0dcef9acd81d6c18ea75e1036fb2

265. Reuters, Parodi E, Vagnoni G. Italy, Germany to give just one COVID vaccine shot to some patients [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/italy-give-just-one-covid-shot-some-patients-eu-struggles-with-inoculations-2021-03-04/



266. DW. 10 million Germans have received at least one shot [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-over-10-million-vaccinated-in-germany/a-57089575

267. Nasr J. Germany to offer booster against COVID-19, vaccines for children [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-offer-booster-against-covid-19-vaccines-children-2021-08-02/

268. Grieshaber K. Germany to offer COVID-19 shots for all kids over 12 [Internet]. AP NEWS. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://apnews.com/article/europe-health-germany-coronavirus-pandemic-coronavirus-vaccine-8f9e0a21d8ac13633737688b4ea6889d

269. Bennhold K. Germany Will Offer Vaccine Booster Shots Starting in September [Internet]. The New York Times. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/02/world/europe/coronavirus-booster-shots-germany.html

270. Reuters. Germany recommends COVID-19 vaccinations for pregnant women [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/germany-recommends-covid-19-vaccinations-pregnant-women-2021-09-10/

271. The Local. Who can get a Covid-19 booster shot in Germany? [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.thelocal.de/20211015/who-can-get-a-covid-19-booster-shot-in-germany

272. Reuters. Germany recommends booster shots for all adult population [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-recommends-booster-shots-all-adult-population-2021-11-18/

273. The Local. Germany to roll out Covid vaccinations for 5-11 year olds [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20211213/germany-to-start-covid-vaccinations-for-5-11-year-olds 274. Associated Press. Germany Vaccine Panel OKs Shots for Children Aged 5-11 [Internet]. US News. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.usnews.com/news/healthnews/articles/2021-12-09/germany-vaccine-panel-oks-shots-for-children-aged-5-11

275. Busvine D. Germany recommends COVID-19 boosters after 3 months [Internet]. POLITICO. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.politico.eu/article/germanyrecommends-covid-19-boosters-after-3-months/

276. DW. German vaccine commission recommends boosters for over-12s [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/german-vaccine-commission-recommends-boosters-for-children-over-12/a-60412513

277. The Local. Millions of Germans no longer considered "fully vaccinated" on public transport [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.thelocal.de/20220119/millions-of-germans-no-longer-considered-fully-vaccinated-on-public-transport



278. Westendarp L. Germany recommends fourth COVID vaccine dose for vulnerable people [Internet]. POLITICO. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.politico.eu/article/germany-recommends-fourth-vaccine-vulnerable-exposed-groups/

279. Reuters. German health minister urges people at risk to get second COVID booster [Internet]. Reuters. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/german-health-minister-urges-people-risk-get-second-covid-booster-2022-03-25/

280. Xinhua. German health minister recommends 4th COVID-19 vaccine dose for under 60s [Internet]. Xinhuanet. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://english.news.cn/20220716/3741d40d3f494f46857f92b669b6c58e/c.html

281. Weiss P, Burger L. Germany's vaccine panel says one COVID shot enough for children [Internet]. CTVNews. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.ctvnews.ca/health/coronavirus/germany-s-vaccine-panel-says-one-covid-shot-enough-for-children-1.5915731

282. The Local. Reader question: Can under-5s get vaccinated against Covid in Germany? [Internet]. The Local Germany. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.thelocal.de/20220624/reader-question-can-under-5s-get-vaccinated-against-covid-in-germany

283. BioNTech. Pfizer and BioNTech Receive Positive CHMP Opinion for COMIRNATY[®] in Children 6 Months to less than 5 Years in the European Union [Internet]. BioNTech. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://investors.biontech.de/news-releases/news-releasedetails/pfizer-and-biontech-receive-positive-chmp-opinion-comirnatyr-0/

284. Burger L. German panel recommends COVID shot only for at-risk youngsters [Internet]. Reuters. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/german-vaccine-panel-recommends-covid-shot-only-sick-small-children-2022-11-17/

285. Grieshaber K. Germany starts rolling out a digital EU vaccination pass [Internet]. AP NEWS. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://apnews.com/article/europe-germany-coronavirus-pandemic-technology-government-and-politics-

03043240f9780a2504dd5bb98d90cb5f

286. BBC. Coronavirus: Germany fights trade in fake Covid vaccine certificates [Internet]. BBC News. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-57344546

287. BBC. Covid: Germany fears thousands got saline, not vaccine from nurse [Internet]. BBC News. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-58186032

288. Reuters. Germany worried about COVID-19 vaccination "no shows" [Internet]. Reuters. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-worried-about-covid-19-vaccination-no-shows-2021-07-05/



289. Hill J. German Covid protests turn nasty in row over rules and vaccinations [Internet]. BBC News. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/worldeurope-60059543

290. L&E Global. Germany: No Continued Payment of Remuneration for Unvaccinated Employees due to Covid-19 Quarantine [Internet]. L&E Global. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://leglobal.law/2021/10/27/germany-no-continued-payment-ofremuneration-for-unvaccinated-employees-due-to-covid-19-quarantine/

291. Gehrke L. German parliament rejects mandatory coronavirus vaccination [Internet]. POLITICO. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.politico.eu/article/germanparliament-rejects-mandatory-coronavirus-vaccination/

292. DW. COVID: Vaccine mandate for German health workers approved [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/covid-digest-german-court-approves-vaccine-mandate-for-health-workers/a-61847549

293. Thurau J. Vaccine skeptics hobble Germany's COVID fight [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/vaccine-skeptics-hobblegermanys-fight-against-covid-19/a-59146486

294. Hallam M. What's in Germany's emergency coronavirus budget? [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 15]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/whats-in-germanys-emergency-coronavirus-budget/a-52917360

295. Nienaber M. German parliament suspends debt brake to fight coronavirus outbreak [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-germany-scholz-idUSKBN21C17F 296. Schmidt C. Strong tenant protections and subsidies support Germany's majority-renter housing market [Internet]. Brookings. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.brookings.edu/essay/germany-rental-housing-markets/

297. Ministry of Health Germany. Zweites COVID-19-Bevölkerungsschutz-Gesetz [Internet]. Bundesministerium fur Gesundheit. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/covid-19-bevoelkerungsschutz-2.html
298. Partington R. Germany unveils €130bn coronavirus recovery package [Internet]. The Guardian. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 15]. Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/jun/04/germany-unveils-huge-130bn-coronavirus-recovery-package

299. Hansen H, Nienaber M. Germany speeds up disbursement of coronavirus aid in December [Internet]. Reuters. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-health-coronavirus-germany-aid-idUKKBN28I1RG 300. Lovell T. Germany introduces Digital Supply Act to digitalise healthcare [Internet]. Healthcare IT News. 2019 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/emea/germany-introduces-digital-supply-act-digitalise-healthcare

301. Olesch A. Germany benefits from digital health infrastructure during COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. Healthcare IT News. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/emea/germany-benefits-digital-health-infrastructure-during-covid-19-pandemic

302. Jahns RG. How Germany vows to become a top country for digital health solution providers [Internet]. MobiHealthNews. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.mobihealthnews.com/news/emea/how-germany-vows-become-top-country-digital-health-solution-providers

303. Lovell T. German hospitals receive digital health boost [Internet]. Healthcare IT News. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from:

https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/emea/german-hospitals-receive-digital-health-boost 304. Medical Press. Telemedicine takes off in Germany during pandemic [Internet]. Medical Press. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://medicalxpress.com/news/2021-02telemedicine-germany-pandemic.html

305. Nehra W. Testing of new e-prescription system begins in Germany [Internet]. lamExpat. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expat-info/german-expat-news/testing-new-e-prescription-system-begins-germany

306. Nortal. e-Prescription pilot to advance digital transformation in Germany [Internet]. Nortal. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://nortal.com/blog/e-prescription-pilotto-advance-digital-transformation-in-germany/

307. Carter A. E-prescriptions finally coming to Germany: What you need to know [Internet]. IamExpat. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.iamexpat.de/expatinfo/german-expat-news/e-prescriptions-finally-coming-germany-what-you-need-know

308. Staudenmaier R. Germany looks to clean up meat industry [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germanys-meat-industryunder-fire-after-covid-19-outbreaks/a-53502751

309. Synovitz R. COVID-19 Outbreak Among Romanian, Bulgarian Workers Threatens Germany's Lockdown Strategy [Internet]. Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.rferl.org/a/coronavirus-outbreak-threatens-germany-slocal-lockdown-strategy/30684736.html

310. DW. COVID digest: Nursing home outbreak despite vaccination [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-digest-german-nursing-home-sees-outbreak-after-vaccines/a-56491823

311. Berry A. Germany: 11 die in nursing home COVID outbreak [Internet]. Deutsche Welle. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.dw.com/en/germany-11-die-in-nursinghome-covid-outbreak/a-59700873

312. Wieler L, Rexroth U, Gottschalk R. Emerging COVID-19 success story: Germany's strong enabling environment [Internet]. Our World in Data. 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. Available from: https://ourworldindata.org/covid-exemplar-germany-2020

313. Lopez G. Germany contained Covid-19. Politics brought it back. [Internet]. Vox. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. Available from: https://www.vox.com/22352348/germany-covid-19-coronavirus-pandemic



314. Alvarez E, Bielska IA, Hopkins S, Belal AA, Goldstein DM, Slick J, et al. Limitations of COVID-19 testing and case data for evidence-informed health policy and practice. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2023;21:11. Available from: https://rdcu.be/c4bnh. (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-023-00963-1).

